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8Whowe are, whatwe do

Salamander Energy is an Asia-focused
independent exploration and production company
with 21 licenses across Indonesia, Thailand,
Vietnam, Lao PDR and the Philippines.

Since its formation in 2005, the Group has
consistently grown both 2P reserves and production
year on year. Salamander entered 2009 producing
in the region of 12,000 boepd and expects daily
production to average 15,000 – 17,000 boepd during
2009. By the end of 2009 Salamander will operate
over 65% of its production.
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Our strategy

Regional focus

Asia is home to some of the largest producing basins
in the world, as well as a variety of exciting, frontier
exploration regions with significant potential.
Regional focus helps the Group to anticipate and
respond to changes in the operating and economic
environment, as well as maintain and deepen its
network of contacts and relationships.

Leveraging regional knowledge and relationships

We believe our local knowledge and relationships
with national and regional governments, national
oil companies, key service providers and peers
provide a sustainable competitive edge. On a
technical and operational level, the Group uses its
knowledge and expertise gained from its producing
and development assets in its exploration and
appraisal activities.

Maintaining a balanced portfolio

Our portfolio is built upon a foundation of producing
and development assets that offer long-life, stable and
reliable cash flows. These cash flows are re-invested in
high returning development and exploration assets
that offer further growth. Moreover, we look to ensure
we have a portfolio with a blend of different economic
regimes and an appropriate mix of both oil and gas.

Capital allocation discipline

The Group maintains an 80/20 allocation of
capital employed whereby 80% of capital is allocated
to lower risk production, development and appraisal
assets, and 20% of capital is allocated to higher
risk exploration assets. In this way the Group can
have sustained exposure to the benefits of
exploration without putting the company at
significant risk from the outcome of a single well
or exploration drilling campaign.

Growing the business organically and
through acquisition

The Group’s technical and senior management
teams have a significant breadth and depth
of experience in the hydrocarbon basins of Asia.
We also have a corporate finance skill set that has
enabled the company to identify situations it can
capitalise on, and to transact quickly and efficiently
in building its portfolio.

Highlights of the year

Operational

• Proved and probable reserves increased by 74% to
67.7 MMboe, a 950% reserves replacement ratio.

• Production increased by 23% to 9,600 boepd

• First oil from the operated Bualuang oil field,
Gulf of Thailand

• Acquired operatorship of the Kambuna
development, Offshore North Sumatra

• Continued portfolio development, addition of
six new licences

Financial

• Revenue increased by 45% to $100.8 million

• EBITDAX increased by 37% to $56.8 million

• Post tax loss of $66.5 million (post tax profit of
$0.2 million after adjustments for write off and
impairment items)

• Average realisations of: oil $60.52/bbl and gas
$4.99 Mscf

• Completed $200 million debt refinancing, seven
year facility, and $200 million equity raising

• Year end cash balance of $103.0 million, net debt
of $54.0 million

Outlook

• 2009 average daily production rate anticipated to
be 15,000 – 17,000 boepd

• Group expects to operate over 65% of total
production by end of 2009

• Kambuna field development progressing, with first
gas scheduled during Kambuna field development
progressing, with first gas scheduled mid year 2009

• Additional development drilling underway at
Bualuang oil field

• Imminent E&A campaign in Indonesia and Thailand

• Strong balance sheet to fund exploration, appraisal
and development activites

Revenue $m

2008 100.8

2007 69.6

2006 31.6

EBITDAX $m

2008 56.8

2007 41.4

2006 2.9

Operating cost per BOE $

2008 10.64

2007 9.93

2006 9.72

Operating cash flowper entitlement BOE $

2008 17.03

2007 16.08

2006 17.03

Realised price per bbl of oil $

2008 60.52

2007 71.75

2006 61.33

Realised price perMSCF of gas $

2008 4.99

2007 4.34

2006 3.05
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8Chairman’s and
Chief Executive’s review

The turmoil in the world’s financial
markets, which began to severely impact
the global economies in the second half of
2008, partially overshadowed the Group’s

achievements during a year in which it continued
to deliver growth in its underlying production and
reserve base and to further expand its portfolio.

A significant proportion of the Group’s production
is comprised of fixed price gas and oil that is produced
under production sharing contracts. This diversity
in the composition of the asset base has partially
sheltered the Group’s cash flows from the extreme
oil price volatility witnessed during 2008.

Operationally, the year was significant for Salamander
as it completed the first phase of the operated
Bualuang oil field development in the Gulf of
Thailand, bringing the field into production during
August 2008. The Bualuang production licence will
see further drilling in 2009 that should lead to
increased production levels and the addition of
further reserves. Overall, it is an asset with significant
growth potential that the Company will be seeking
to exploit over the coming years.

Also in August 2008, Salamander assumed
operatorship of its other key development asset,
the Kambuna gas-condensate field, offshore North
Sumatra, Indonesia, and we are pleased to report
that the development is progressing with production
expected to commence at the mid-year 2009.

Having completed a debt refinancing in May 2008,
a re-determination of debt availability under that
facility during December 2008 and the closing of
a $200 million equity fundraising during the summer
of 2008, Salamander entered 2009 in a clear
position to fund its exploration, appraisal and
development activities.

Financial results

The growth in operational activity was reflected
by a 45% increase in revenue for the year at
$100.8 million (2007: $69.6 million). The Group
reported a post-tax loss of $66.5 million (2007:
post-tax profit of $4.6 million) after the effects of
write off and impairment. This figure includes a
post-tax impairment charge of $27.5 million and
an exploration write off of $39.1 million (2007: nil).
The Group reports a loss of $0.53 per share (2007:
earnings per share $0.05).

Operating cash flow increased by 77% to $25.5 million
(2007: $14.4 million) helping to offset the significant
investment made in Salamander’s development
projects. Average realisations of $60.52 per bbl and
$4.99 per Mscf were achieved during the year.

Operational progress

Having seen annual average daily production rise
by 23% year on year to 9,6001 barrels of oil equivalent
per day (‘boepd’), the Group exited 2008 at a
production rate of 11,500 boepd. This growth was
underpinned by the completion of the first phase of
development of its operated Bualuang oil field in the
Gulf of Thailand, which was successfully brought
on-stream in August 2008.

Salamander started 2008 with proved and
probable (‘2P’) reserves of 38.8 MMboe (on a
working interest basis). During 2008, 21.5 MMboe
of 2P reserves were added through acquisition
and 10.8 MMboe were added from revisions to
existing fields. As at 31 December 2008, the Group
booked 2P reserves of 67.7 MMboe, an increase
of 28.9 MMboe (74%), representing a replacement
ratio of 950%.

In addition to completing the Bualuang oil field
development and bringing the field on-stream,
development drilling was completed on the Kambuna
gas-condensate field, Indonesia. Heads of agreement
were signed for GSA’s for 40 MMscfd of gas and
with the reservoir and facilities able to deliver at a
substantially higher rate than this, there is clearly
scope to market further volumes of gas from this field.

The Group successfully appraised the Tutung
structure in East Kalimantan, Indonesia, for which
development options are being evaluated, and
discovered a potential new play in Northeast Thailand,
to be appraised in 2009 through the drilling of the
Phu Kheng-1 well. Following the successful appraisal
of the South Sembakung gas discovery in East
Kalimantan, a plan of development was approved
by the Indonesian Authorities.

1 References to reserves and production are on a working
interest basis unless otherwise stated.

Portfolio development

We have continued to build a regional presence in
a focussed manner, concentrating on selected basins.
A total of six new licences were added to the Group’s
portfolio during 2008 through a combination of
license round applications, acquisitions, asset swaps
and farm-ins. At the year end the portfolio comprised
21 licences.

In March 2008, we completed the acquisition of
GFI Oil and Gas Corporation that brought with it the
Bualuang and Kambuna field developments.

In September 2008 we announced a proposed
offer for Serica Energy plc which would have added
to our interest in the Glagah-Kambuna TAC, provided
operatorship of the Kutai PSC and seen a new
basin entry in Vietnam. However, this was withdrawn
in October 2008 amid the sharp deterioration in the
oil price and wider capital markets.

Further organic growth will be sourced from
the Group’s exploration and appraisal portfolio.
The Company continues to mature its prospect
portfolio and prepare targets for its medium term
drilling programme.

Board and staff

During the year we welcomed James Coleman and
Mike Sibson to the Board as non-executive directors.
James brings with him a valuable combination of oil
and gas and legal experience. He is a senior partner
and former chairman of the international law firm of
Macleod Dixon, and was a board member of GFI Oil
& Gas Corporation until it was acquired by Salamander
in March 2008. Mike has a host of industry experience
and is a director in 3i’s Oil, Gas and Power team having
previously worked as a drilling engineer for Shell.
At the end of the year Andrew Cochran, a co-founder
who played a significant role in the successful
evolution of Salamander, left the Group in order to
seek other challenges and devote more time to his
young family. On behalf of the Board we would like
to thank Andrew for his service to Salamander.

The continued growth of our business would not have
been achieved without the continued commitment
and dedication of the management and staff. The
Board would like to thank them for all of their efforts.

Current trading and outlook

Following the current drilling program in the Gulf
of Thailand, we are looking forward to bringing the
Kambuna field in Indonesia on-stream and to drilling
exploration and appraisal wells in East Kalimantan
and northeast Thailand in the first half of 2009.

2009 will see a further material step up in the Group’s
production with the daily average forecast to be
between 15,000 – 17,000 boepd, representing an
increase of over 55%%, by which time Salamander
will be operating over 65% of its production base.

In order to provide greater cash flow certainty and
comfort in delivering its 2009 capital budget and plan,
the Group has put in place hedges against a portion of
its 2009 oil production. These hedges involved selling
forward a proportion (2,500 barrels per day) of its 2009
oil production at $53.83 per barrel, and buying put
options against a further 1,500 barrels of oil per day at
$54.00 per barrel for the second half of 2009. These
hedges are designed to provide greater cash flow
certainty whilst retaining upside exposure to potential
future commodity price strength.

Capital expenditure in 2009 will be approximately
$110 million, of which approximately $40 million will
be allocated to exploration and appraisal activities
and approximately $70 million to production and
development activities. For 2008 and 2009 the
Group remains within its 80/20 capital allocation
guideline with approximately 80% of capital allocated
to discovered reserves and resources, and 20% of
capital allocated to exploration.

In summary, 2009 promises to be a year of material
growth for Salamander and we look forward to
seeing a period of greater stability in the oil and
capital markets, when we can continue to maximise
the opportunities open to us as a pure Asian
E&P company.

Charles Jamieson JamesMenzies
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

24 March 2009 24 March 2009



Total acreage sq km

Thailand 19,400
Vietnam 13,344
Indonesia (including Block SC41) 36,988
Lao 33,093

102,825

Average productionboepd

Thailand 3,000
Indonesia 6,600

9,600

Thailand
1 L15/43EA

2 L13/48A

3 EU1/E5 Sinphuhorm fieldPD

4 L15/50EA

5 L27/43EA

6 L26/50E

7 B8/38 Bualuang fieldPDE

Lao PDR
8 Savannakhet PSCE

9 Champasak and Saravan PSCE

Vietnam
10 DBSCL-01 PSCE

11 Block 31 PSCE

Philippines
12 SC41E

Indonesia
13 Glagah-Kambuna TACP

14 South East Sumantra PSCPD

15 Offshore North West Java PSCPD

16 Bengara-1 PSCE

17 Simenggaris JOAED

18 South East Sangatta PSCE

19 Bontang PSCEA

20 Kutai PSCE

A Appraisal
D Under development
E Exploration
P In production

Indonesia

1P ReservesMMboe

Oil and Cond 8.4
Gas 10.8

20.0

2P ReservesMMboe

Oil and Cond 15.8
Gas 19.6

35.4

Contingent resourcesMMboe

Oil and Cond 35.2
Gas 21.1

56.3

ProductionMboepd

Oil and Cond 3.5
Gas 3.1

6.6

Revenue $mm

Oil and Cond 45,349
Gas 14,952

60,301

2008Highlights
• Increased equity interest and assumed

operatorship of Kambuna field
• Built largest independent exploration position

in prolific Kutei basin
• 2P Reserves upgrade on Kambuna field

Salamander Energy at a glance Thailand

1P ReservesMMboe

Oil and Cond 8.2
Gas 6.7

14.9

2P ReservesMMboe

Oil and Cond 16.3
Gas 16.0

32.3

Contingent resourcesMMboe

Oil and Cond 0.4
Gas 172.5

172.9

ProductionMboepd

Oil and Cond 1.6
Gas 1.4

3.0

Revenue $mm

Oil and Cond 16,869
Gas 23,583

40,452

2008Highlights
• Start of production on Bualuang field
• 2P reserves upgrade on Bualuang field
• Opened Salamander office in Bangkok
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RPS Energy confirmed a further reserves upgrade
on both fields for year ended 2008. Gross proved plus
probable reserves on the Bualuang field increased
by a further 7.3 MMbo, which following annual
production, provided a figure of 26.3 MMbo of 2P
reserves for year end 2008. , The 2P reserves estimate
on the Kambuna field increased from 29.2 MMboe
to 33.8 MMboe.

Group 2P reserves as at 31 December 2008 were
67.7 MMboe, 74% increase during 2008 which
represents a 950% reserve replacement ratio for
the year.

Production

A key highlight in 2008 was the Group’s production,
which grew 23%, averaging 9,600 boepd. This
comprised 53% liquids and 47% gas. Production
in the first quarter of 2009 has been running at
approximately 11,500 boepd and average daily
production for 2009 is expected to be in the range
of 15,000 to 17,000 boepd. This forecast production
growth will be driven by a first full year contribution
from the Bualuang oil field, a second phase of
Bualuang development drilling, and the start of
production at the Kambuna gas-condensate field
which is expected at the mid-year 2009.

Thailand
Offshore in the Gulf of Thailand, the Group’s
operated Bualuang oil field commenced production
on 27 August 2008. Oil is produced into a 500,000 bbl
capacity FPSO, moored adjacent to the wellhead
platform. Over 1.4 million barrels have been
produced to date and the reservoir has so far
performed above expectations.

The pressure data obtained since the field went
into production is strongly indicative of a very active
water drive providing pressure support that has the
potential to improve the recovery factor over and
above previous estimates. Production levels are
forecast to further improve during 2009 through the
drilling of two horizontal wells on the crest of the
structure. These two wells, along with one more
water disposal well, will be drilled and tied in by the
end of May 2009.

2008 was an active year for the Group
on all operating fronts: production grew
as the Bualuang oil field came on stream;
the Kambuna development continued

to progress; and eight seismic surveys were completed
as the exploration and appraisal portfolio continues
to mature.

Health, safety and environment

The addition of the Bualuang production licence and
Glagah-Kambuna TAC to the Group’s operated asset
portfolio was a major factor behind an increase to over
three million recordable man hours worked in 2008.
Zero lost time incidents were recorded.

As the level of activity across our operated assets
has increased, the Group has broadened its CSR
programme. The communities it operates within are
important partners to the Group and it is focussed on
providing employment to local people, to increase
awareness of safe working practices and to invest in
projects that bring real benefit to those living in the
areas in which we operate.

Reserves

The Group started 2008 with 38.8 MMboe of
proved and probable (2P) reserves (on a working
interest basis).

In June 2008 RPS Energy, the Group’s independent
reserves auditors, completed audits on the Bualuang
and Kambuna fields post completion of development
drilling. As a result of these audits the estimated
2P reserves increased on both fields. Gross proved
and probable reserves on the Bualuang field increased
from 14.9 to 20 MMbo, and proved plus probable
reserves estimated on the Kambuna field increased
from 25.7 MMboe to 29.2 MMboe.
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Operational review

2PReserves historyMMboe

31/12/08 67.7

31/12/07 38.8

31/12/06 42.3

31/12/05 17.6

Annual productionMboepd (000s)

2009* 15 – 17

2008 9.6

2007 7.8

2006 4.4

* Forecast

Exploration

“We have frontier exploration
acreage in Vietnam and recently
completed an unconventional
seismic survey that had
offshore, transition zone and
offshore components.

Top
Seismic specialist Jeff Kallal
and a jug hustler survey
the Cuu Long Delta area,
Block DBSCL-01, Vietnam.

Bottom
Seismic operations,
Block DBSCL-01, Cuu Long
Delta, Vietnam
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Nowwe have started to
interpret the results of the
survey it is very rewarding
to see the quality of the data
and the initial leads that are
being identified from it.“

Phan Van Trung
Chief Geophysicist
Vietnam

Trung is Salmander’s chief
geophysicist in Vietnam and
is based out of the Ho Chi
Minh office. He is responsible
for overseeing all geophysical
studies and operations for
Salamander in Vietnam.
Trung recently contracted,
executed and supervised the
acquisition of two seismic
surveys including the first
OBC, transition zone and land
seismic survey ever completed
in Vietnam.Trung previously
worked with PetroVietnam and
Conoco-Phillips.



Within the Bualuang production licence a number
of exploration prospects have been identified with the
potential to add readily accessible reserves to the
Bualuang development project. The Bualuang field
currently produces from the Miocene T4 sands at a
depth of ca. 1,100 metres sub-sea. The T2 and T3
sandstones underlie the main producing reservoir
at depths of circa. 1,350 metres and 1,550 metres sub
sea respectively. In order to explore the potential
of the deeper sands, a pilot hole will be deepened
below the T4 during the drilling of one of the 2009
development wells to investigate the T2 and T3
sandstones within closures developed against the
Bualuang bounding fault. Any observed hydrocarbons
in these sandstones will be logged and sampled
before the pilot hole is plugged back as a producer in
the main T4 reservoir.

Onshore northeast Thailand, production from the
Sinphuhorm gas field averaged 82 MMscfd. During
2008 the Group drilled the South Phu Horm-1
appraisal well to explore the southern extension
of the Sinphuhorm field. The well encountered
significant gas shows within a non-fractured section
of the Pha Nok Khao carbonate reservoir that tested
gas at low flow rates. The Group believes that
Sinphuhorm still has the potential for resources in
excess of the 1 Tcf of 2P reserves currently booked.
Gaining an improved understanding of the fracture
network and dolomitization of the reservoir remains
the key to unlocking the full potential of the field.
To this end, the field operator has budgeted for the
acquisition of a 3D seismic survey in 2009, which
is designed to better image the Pha Nok Khao
carbonate reservoir and so enable future appraisal
and development wells to be optimally located.

In February 2008 the Group announced that
the Dong Mun-3 appraisal well had found gas in
the primary Pha Nok Khao objective and had also
encountered gas in the shallower Jurassic and
Triassic clastic reservoirs. The shallow reservoirs are
prospective in the Phu Kheng structure immediately
updip of Dong Mun-3 which could represent a new
play type in the Khorat Plateau Basin. The Phu Kheng
structure is a laterally extensive feature covering
an area of 125,000 acres with multi-Tcf gas in place
potential. An exploration well is planned in Q2 2009,
which will be located substantially updip of the
Dong Mun-3 well at the level of the Jurassic and
Triassic reservoirs.

Following completion of the Phu Kheng-1 well, the
rig will move to drill the Si That-3 appraisal well in
Block L15/43. This well will appraise a gas bearing
structure analogous in form to the Sinphuhorm
field with the potential to contain up to 1 Tcf of
recoverable reserves.

The Group was awarded the operated
exploration blocks L26/50 and L15/50 in the
Thai 20th licensing round in December 2007 and
January 2008 respectively. These blocks have
expanded the Group’s leading acreage position
in the Khorat Plateau Basin. During 2008 the Group
completed a 2D seismic survey in Block L26/50.
The initial interpretation of the data has identified
the presence of four large structures in L26/50
well located to receive charge from the source
kitchen proven in the area.

Block L15/50 contains a gas discovery called Dao
Ruang. A 3D seismic survey is planned for Block
L15/50 designed to help locate appraisal wells in
the optimal positions to encounter good quality
reservoir rock.

Lao PDR

During 2008 the Group added to its position in
Lao PDR through the addition of a 20% interest in the
Champasak & Saravan PSC via a cross assignment
agreement with PetroVietnam Exploration and
Production (‘PVEP’) whereby PVEP took a 25%
interest in the Group’s operated Savannakhet PSC.

The Savannakhet PSC contains two significant gas
prospects each with the potential to contain 1 Tcf of
resources, and an oil prospect with the potential to
contain 150 MMbbls. In 2008 the Group completed a
2D seismic survey over these prospects. This data is
currently being processed and interpreted prior to
drilling in 2010.

Vietnam

During 2008 the Group expanded its position in
Vietnam by agreeing terms for a PSC in Block 31,
offshore Southern Vietnam. The Block 31 PSC, in
which Salamander has a 60% operated interest, was
formally signed and awarded on 10 March 2009. Block
31 contains both syn-rift and basement plays within
the Vin Chau half graben which is analogous in form
and geology to the prolific Cuu Long Basin located to
the east. An extensive 2D seismic survey was acquired
in Q4 2008, prior to the formal signature of the PSC,
to capitalise on good commercial rates offered by
the contractor. The data has been processed and is
currently being interpreted ahead of drilling in 2010.

Operational review continued Development

“Salamander is involved in all
areas of hydrocarbon extraction,
from exploration, through drilling
to production and subsequent
field re-development.

I am exposed to all
these areas andmywork
straddlesmany disciplines
including geology, reservoir
engineering, production
engineering and economics.
Such cross discipline
exposure is truly unique
and challenging.”

Anand Selveindran
Reservoir Engineer

Anand is a Reservoir
Engineer based in Singapore.
His main responsibilities are
to monitor and analyse the
Group’s production assets
in Thailand through the
development of production
system models that are able
to simulate the performance
of the field allowing accurate
predictions of future field
production trends. Anand
also performs a reservoir
management role on Bualuang
field and co-developed a
production allocation
procedure, the in-house
development of which
saved the Group an
estimated $250,000.
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Top and bottom
Reservoir models of the
Bualuang oil field.

8
B
us
in
es
s
re
vi
ew

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8



Operational review continued

In the Group’s operated Cuu Long River Delta Block 1
PSC, a 722 km seismic programme was completed in
2008 fulfilling the seismic work commitment. This data
is now being processed and interpreted in-house to
identify prospects ahead of an anticipated drilling
campaign in 2010.

Philippines

In July 2008 the Lumba Lumba-1 exploration well in
SC41 was drilled to target multiple stacked objectives
in a large inversion structure. The target depth was
called early as it encountered operational difficulties
due to formation instability and drilling difficulties
and found no reservoir formations within the section
penetrated. Due to water depth restrictions on the
drilling rig, only the westernmost prospects in SC41
were accessible in this initial drilling campaign and
geological work indicates that reservoirs are more
likely to be better developed to the East in deeper
water. The joint venture partners have subsequently
integrated the results of this well with the existing data
and are reprocessing the seismic data to better define
the numerous untested structures on the block.

Indonesia

North Sumatra
The Group now holds a 50% working interest and
operatorship of the Glagah-Kambuna TAC, containing
the Kambuna gas condensate field.

The Kambuna gas field development is progressing
well with first production expected at the mid year
2009 and a rapid ramp up to the full daily contracted
quantity of 40 MMscfd. Development drilling has
been completed and the three wells on the structure
tested at a combined rate in excess of 100 Mscfd
and 8,000 barrels of condensate per day. Gas sales
agreements have been finalised for the sale of 40
MMscfd of gas at an average price of $5.90 per Mscf
(plus a 3% annual inflator).

The multi-phase pipeline from the field to the
processing facilities onshore at Pangkalan Branden
has been completed. The topsides for the offshore
production platform were installed in March 2009
and work is ongoing to complete the onshore
receiving facilities.

The Seruway PSC, off the northeast coast of
North Sumatra, which was acquired as part of the GFI
acquisition, was subsequently relinquished by the
Group in December 2008. One well, Gurame-1X,
was drilled in 2008 to appraise a structure thought to
contain multiple gas bearing sands. Hydrocarbons
were observed in the target reservoir sandstones
which unfortunately displayed low permeability
characteristics. The Group decided to relinquish
the acreage in order to focus its resources in areas
of its portfolio considered to have considerably
greater prospectivity.

OffshoreNorthWest Java/South East Sumatra
Production from the Offshore North West Java
PSC was in-line with expectations and gas sales to
the Pupak Kujang fertiliser plant began in February
2008. An 11 well infill drilling programme was
completed with results generally exceeding the
pre-drill expectations.

Production from the South East Sumatra PSC
exceeded expectations as a result of an extensive
workover campaign that slowed the forecast decline
rate of the producing fields. The operator, CNOOC,
continued an infill drilling programme throughout the
year to help maintain production levels. The successful
Mila-3 appraisal well gave support to the development
potential of the Mila gas reservoir.

The Offshore North West Java and South East Sumatra
PSCs continue to provide solid and reliable production
of circa 6,000 boepd net to the Group.

East Kalimantan
In 2008, the Group continued to develop its acreage
position in East Kalimantan by adding interests in three
licenses. Two of these, the Kutai PSC and the South
East Sangatta PSC, are located in the Kutei basin; the
Bengara-1 PSC, is located in the Tarakan basin. The
Kutei basin is one of the most prolific in Indonesia and
the Group now has the leading independent
exploration acreage position in this basin.

In the operated Bontang PSC, the Group drilled two
wells to appraise the Tutung gas discovery. The Tutung
Alpha-1 well was completed in February 2008 and
penetrated multiple hydrocarbon bearing sandstones.
In July, a drill stem testing programme was completed
across two zones in the Middle Miocene Pulubalang
formation sandstones. The main zone flowed at 14
MMscfd and 475 barrels of condensate per day with
rates constrained by the testing equipment available.
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Production

“Completing the Bualuang
development and seeing the first
oil pumped to the surfacewas
a greatmoment, especially as it
coincidedwith a visit to the
platformby the Chief Executive.

The field has performed
well since start up and
phase 2 of the drilling
should further enhance
performance.”

Erik Klaasse
Production Manager
Thailand

Erik is Production Manager
for Salamander’s activities in
Thailand with responsibility
for managing and overseeing
production from the Bualuang
oil field. Having previously
worked for Shell and Conoco-
Phillips. Erik has been based
in Thailand for over 10 years
overseeing the start up of
production on Chevron’s
Benchamas field and then
the Jasmine oil field for
Pearl Energy.
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Top
Phase 1 development,
Bualuang oil field, Gulf of
Thailand.

Bottom
Rubicon Vantage FPSO,
Bualuang oil field, Gulf of
Thailand.



The Tutung Alpha-2 well was drilled as a long step-out
from the Tutung Alpha-1 location, to test the limit of
the closure to the northeast of the structure.
Encountering the target formation low to prognosis,
the well was sidetracked to a more crestal location
where the main reservoir sands were absent. The
results of the Tutung Alpha-2 well highlighted the
potential for a stratigraphic trapping component in
Tutung. This is also supported by pressure data from
Tutung Alpha-1 that indicates a greater hydrocarbon
column than can be supported by the closure mapped
on the structure. Both wells have been suspended
whilst evaluation work is undertaken to determine the
next step in the appraisal process of this discovery.
Options exist for further drilling or for a potential
mini-development to further evaluate the reserves
potential with gas production serving the local market.

A marine 3D seismic survey has been recorded in the
offshore exploration fairway of the Bontang PSC. The
results of this survey have been used to refine the
leads and prospects on the block. The Angklung
prospect has been identified as the probable first
drilling target and a further 3D marine seismic survey
was obtained over Angklung and nearby prospects
early in 2009. This 2009 seismic was an expansion to
the 2008 3D survey to high grade prospects ahead of a
drilling programme in 2010.

The Group acquired a 23.4% interest in the Kutai
PSC in July 2008 from partner Serica Energy. This was
part of the asset package acquisition through which
the Group gained an additional 15% interest in the
Glagah-Kambuna TAC. The Kutai PSC is located in
the heart of the Kutei basin in acreage surrounding a
number of giant producing fields. The operator
completed a 3D seismic survey in H2 2008 and started
a 2D survey in early 2009. The results of these surveys
will determine drilling targets ahead of a multi-well
exploration programme in 2009/2010.

Also in the Kutei basin, the Group and its partners were
awarded a licence for the South East Sangatta PSC in
the 2008 Indonesian licensing round. The Group has a
49% interest and is operator with an option to increase
this to 75%. The proposed work programme includes
the acquisition of a 300 sq km marine 3D seismic
programme and the drilling of one exploration well.
It is expected that the block will contain a similar range
of leads and prospects to those found in the adjacent
Bontang PSC.

In the Tarakan basin of northeast Kalimantan, the
application for a plan of development for the South
Sembakung field in the Simenggaris JOB-PSC was
approved by the Indonesian authorities in August
2008. In the adjoining Bengara-1 PSC, preparations
are well advanced for drilling the South Sebuku-1
well. Road construction and site clearance activities
commenced in Q4 2008 and the well is expected
to spud in June 2009. South Sebuku is a 30 MMbo
prospect located updip and 7km to the north of the
producing Sembakung field.

Mike Buck
Chief Operating Officer

24 March 2009
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Operational review continued Exploration

“Salamander is now recognised
by the Indonesian authorities as
one of the foremost E&P companies
in the region.
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Top
Wellhead tower, Kambuna
field, Offshore North Sumatra.

Bottom
Salamander's exploration
acreage position, East
Kalimantan, Indonesia.

I am exposed to awide
variety of projects across
Indonesia and this reputation
helps us to get things done
quickly. I amproud of the role
I have played in our growth
to date.”

Parvita H Siregar
Chief Geologist
Indonesia

Parvita is Salamander’s
Indonesia’s Chief geologist
based in Jakarta.Her main
responsibilities are to oversee
all geological and geophysical
activities carried out as part
of the Group’s exploration
activities and provide technical
advice and input on the
subsurface geology of acreage
being considered as part of
the Group’s business
development activities.



Financial review

Key performance indicators

The Group’s performance against its key performance indicators is summarised below:
Unit 2008 2007

Lost Time Incidents Zero Zero
Proven and Probable Reserves (working interest basis) MMboe 67.7 38.8
Reserves Replacement Ratio % 950 (25)
Production (working interest basis) boepd 9,600 7,800
Production (entitlement basis) boepd 6,700 4,600
Annual Production Growth % 23% 77%
Realised Price per barrel of oil $ 60.52 71.75
Realised Price per Mscf of gas $ 4.99 4.34
Operating Cost per boe $ 10.64 9.93
Operating Cash Flow prior to Working Capital per Entitlement boe $ 17.03 16.80
3 year average Finding and Development Cost per barrel1 $ 15.25 4.68
Gearing2 % 21 8

1 Finding and development cost per boe is defined as exploration and acquisition expenditures divided by working interest
reserves additions in the period.

2 Gearing is defined as debt divided by debt plus equity

2008 Financial overview

In 2008 the upstream oil sector experienced a volatile
financial year of two distinctly different halves. The first
half of 2008 was characterised by rising commodity
prices and capital availability, whilst in the second half
commodity prices declined steeply. Benchmark Brent
crude price rose from $94/bbl on 1 January 2008 to a
peak of $146/bbl on 11 July 2008 and then rapidly
declined to $47/bbl by 31 December 2008.

The Group’s financial results have been impacted
by these events. Group realised oil prices were
$111.31/bbl in 1H 08 and $60.52/bbl in the full year
2008. Realised gas prices however defied this trend
as they are protected by fixed price offtake for the
majority of the Group’s production. Realised gas
prices were $4.82 in H1 08 and $4.99 for the full
year 2008.

Despite the volatile environment, the Group managed
to maintain momentum in 2008, growing year on
year production by 23% to 9,600 boepd, proven and
probable (2P) reserves by 74% to 67.7 MMboe and
expanding the portfolio to 21 licence areas.

On 17 March 2008, the Group completed the
acquisition of GFI Oil & Gas Corporation (‘GFI’) for a
total consideration of $225.3 million which included
the issue of 30.8 million Salamander ordinary shares.
The acquisition brought two substantial development
assets, the Bualuang oil field development in Thailand
and the Kambuna gas and condensate development

in Indonesia, plus the Seruway PSC in Indonesia
and the Crystal Gas acreage in the USA. The Group
has since consolidated the acquired development
activities, sold the US acreage and elected to exit
and write off the Seruway PSC during 2008.

The Group’s balance sheet was strengthened ahead
of the mid-year deterioration in the capital markets.
The Group’s debt was restructured, resulting in the
closing of a $200 million seven year Reserves Based
Lending facility on 13 June 2008. The syndicate of
lending banks to the Group are BNP Paribas (‘BNPP’),
the International Finance Corporation (‘IFC’),
Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
(‘HSBC’), Natixis and ING. The debt is structured such
that the Group is borrowing against the aggregate
cash flows from the Sinphuhorm, Bualuang,
Glagah-Kambuna, ONWJ and SES assets. At the
end of 2008, Salamander had elected to draw down
$160.9 million against this facility and had a further
amount of $15.6 million undrawn. This amount was
subsequently drawn in early January resulting in
total debt of $176.4 million at that time. The facility is
subject to annual redeterminations of debt capacity
and the first of these occurred in December 2008.
The next redetermination is expected to occur in
December 2009. Interest on the facility accrues at
a rate of between 2.20% and 2.45% plus LIBOR
depending on the maturity of the assets. There are
no early repayment penalties.
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On 8 August 2008, the Group raised $182.7 million,
net of transaction fees, through a placing and open
offer of equity, increasing the issued share capital by
28% to 152.8 million ordinary shares. The offering was
predominantly placed with 3i Quoted Private Equity
Fund, Standard Chartered Bank, the IFC, Artemis and
M&G. The majority of the raised funds was converted
to US$ in early August at an average rate of £1/$1.98.

On 28 August 2008, the Group closed the acquisition
of an Indonesian asset package from Serica Energy plc
comprising a further 15% and operatorship of the
Glagah-Kambuna TAC and gas development, plus a
23.4% stake in the Kutai PSC for a total consideration
of $52.75 million.

The Group’s 2008 production is partially protected
from oil price volatility by the fixed price nature of its
Indonesian gas production and by the downside
protection inherent in its Thailand gas contracts and
the Indonesia PSC structure. To eliminate a significant
portion of the remaining oil price volatility, in
November 2008 the Group purchased $45.00/bbl
puts for volumes of 2,500 bpd for first half 2009 and
4,000 bpd for second half 2009. These hedges have
since been replaced from February 2009 by a forward
sale (swap) of 2,500 bpd at an average of $53.83/bbl
for the period February to December 2009 and by the
purchase of 1,500 bpd of put options at $54.00/bbl for
the period July to December 2009.

A pre-tax impairment of $55.0 million (post-tax:
$27.5 million) is being charged against the Group’s
Bualuang asset. The Bualuang oil field itself continues
to exceed our initial technical expectations, with both
increased reserves and production over the period;
however the maximum carrying value is reliant on
external assumptions including oil price expectations
and discount rate. It is changes in these assumptions in
light of the current economic climate that has led to
the impairment charge.

Following the unsuccessful Lumba Lumba-1
well in the SC41 PSC, the Philippines and the
unsuccessful Gurame-1 well in the Seruway PSC
and the subsequent decision to exit that PSC, the
Group has taken an exploration write off of
$39.1 million (2007: nil).

As a consequence of the above, the Group reports a
loss after tax for the year of $66.5 million compared to
a profit for 2007 of $4.6 million.

The Group ended the 2008 financial year with cash
and cash equivalent balance of $103.0 million and
undrawn borrowings of $15.6 million (which were
subsequently drawn in early January 2009).

The challenging economic environment has
re-emphasised the need for continual risk assessment
and, where necessary, mitigation across the Group’s
portfolio. Financial risks, in particular, have increased
in the areas of commodity price risk and counterparty
risk. A review of key risks across the Group and a
summary of mitigating actions are provided later in
this section.

Despite the uncertainties surrounding future
commodity prices and the capital markets, as a result
of the 2008 debt refinancing and equity capital
raising plus the oil derivative hedging programme
executed in January 2009 the Group is appropriately
funded to deliver its development, exploration and
appraisal activities.

Income statement

2008 saw continued growth of the Group’s sales from
production with revenue rising 45% to $100.8 million
(2007: $69.6 million). Part of the increase reflected
the Group’s acquisition of the Bualuang oil field
development, Thailand that was then successfully
brought on stream on 27 August 2008.

Group working interest production for the year
totalled 1.8 MMbo (2007: 1.4 MMbo) and 9.8 Bcf of
gas (2007: 9.0 Bcf); entitlement production totalled
1.1 MMbo (2007: 0.6 MMbo) and 7.6 Bcf of gas
(2007: 6.7 Bcf). The Group realised average prices
for the year for oil and liquids of $60.52 per bbl
(2007: $71.75 per bbl) and gas of $4.99 per Mscf
(2007: $4.34 per Mscf). The Group’s oil and liquids
production was sold referenced to spot prices during
2008. The Group’s Indonesia gas production was
sold at fixed prices averaging $3.01 per Mscf
(2007: $2.89 Mscf) whereas Thai gas production was
sold referenced to the Singapore price for medium
fuel oil 180 CST and averaged $8.28 per Mscf for
2008 (2007: $5.96 per Mscf).

Cost of sales for 2008 totalled $125.6 million
(2007: $47.8 million) and comprised operating
costs of $37.2 million (2007: $28.3 million), royalties
of $4.3 million (2007 $2.3 million), amortisation of
$27.7 million (2007: $15.1 million), a pre-tax
impairment charge of $55.0 million and underlift
and stock adjustments of $1.4 million (2007: credit
of $2.1 million). The increase in operating costs
and amortisation were predominantly driven by
production from the Group’s Bualuang oil field in
Thailand commencing on 27 August 2008. The
pre-tax impairment is a non cash charge relating
to a $55.0 million pre tax ($27.5 million post tax)
write-down of the Group’s Bualuang asset.
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Other operating charges for the year included:
exploration write off of $39.1 million (2007: nil);
pre-licence exploration expenses of $8.0 million
(2007: $5.9 million); profit on disposal of assets of
$0.8 million (2007: nil); and administration expenses
of $10.9 million (2007: $4.6 million). The exploration
write-off arose as a result of the unsuccessful drilling
of the Group’s Lumba Lumba-1 well in Block SC41, the
Philippines and the Gurame-1X well in the Seruway
PSC, Indonesia (this PSC interest subsequently being
relinquished). Pre-licence exploration expenses
represent the Group’s continued new business
activities and investments. The increase in
administration expenses in 2008 from that in 2007
was driven by the Group’s continued expansion in
2008 and the need to retain an office in Houston up
until September 2008 whilst the GFI operations were
integrated into the Group’s existing portfolio.

Interest revenue for 2008 of $5.8 million (2007:
$7.7 million) comprised loan fees and interest
receivable from GFI prior to acquiring the company
in March 2008 of $3.2 million (2007: nil) and bank
interest of $2.6 million from deposit of the Group’s
surplus cash.

In March 2008, the Group refinanced its $37 million
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe
Limited (‘SMBC’) led seven year reserves based facility
with a $125 million BNP Paribas (‘BNPP’) 18 months
bridge facility, predominantly to acquire GFI. In turn
the BNPP bridge facility was refinanced in June 2008
with a BNPP led $200 million seven year reserves
based lending facility. Arrangement fees, expenses
and interest of $8.2 million (2007: $2.3 million) are
charged to finance costs in respect of the borrowings,
$5.5 million (2007: $nil) of which has been capitalised
to the Group’s Thailand, Bualuang and Indonesia,
Glagah-Kambuna assets.

The other financial gains of $3.6 million represents
exchange gains of $1.5 million (2007: loss $1.8 million)
and mark to market adjustments on hedges of
$2.1 million (2007: $0.4 million).

The 2008 taxation credit of $9.0 million (2007: charge
of $13.4 million) comprised an income tax charge of
$14.7 million (2007: $12.2 million) and a deferred tax
credit of $23.6 million (2007: charge of $1.3 million).
The deferred tax included a deferred tax credit of
$27.5 million as a direct consequence of the Group’s
impairment charge of $55.0 million.

As a consequence of the above, the Group returned a
loss after tax for 2008 of $66.5 million (2007: profit of
$4.6 million), equivalent to a loss per share of
$0.53 (2007: earnings per share of $0.05).

Balance sheet

During 2008, the Group entered into a number of
material transactions which significantly changed the
shape of its balance sheet compared to that at the
year-end 2007.

With the acquisition of GFI in March 2008, the
acquisition of a further 15% and operatorship of
Glagah-Kambuna asset in Indonesia in August 2008,
and the Group’s continuing investment programmes,
non-current assets increased during the year by
$559.0 million to $779.4 million. This was after a non
cash charge for exploration write off of $39.1 million
and a non cash charge for pre tax impairment against
the Bualuang asset, Thailand of $55.0 million (post tax
impairment of $27.5 million).

As set out above, the Group restructured its
borrowings during 2008 from an SMBC led $37.0
million facility at the beginning of the year to a BNPP
led $200 million facility at the end of the year. At year-
end 2008, the Group had drawn $160.9 million (2007:
$25.3 million) against the facility, with a further amount
of $15.6 million undrawn which was drawn in early
January 2009.

In March 2008, the Group issued 30.8 million ordinary
shares at a value of $180.7 million net of transaction
fees to partly fund the acquisition of GFI. In August
2008, to fund further expansion of the Group’s
portfolio, the Group issued 33.3 million shares at a
value of $182.7 million net of transaction fees through
a placing and open offer process. With the Group’s
loss for the year of $66.5 million and other less
significant reserves movements, the Group equity
attributable to shareholders increased during the year
by $298.9 million (106%) to $582.1 million.

Financial review continued
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Cash flow

In 2008 the Group generated operating cash flow of
$25.5 million (2007:$14.4 million). This comprised
$12.8 million (2007: $11.8 million) from the Group’s
Thailand operations and $27.6 million (2007:
$10.3million) from the Indonesia operations, offset in
part by operating and administrative payments of
$14.9 million (2007: receipts of $7.7 million).

The 2008 cash flow from investing activities of
$300.5 million (2007: $67.7 million) included: the
Group’s acquisition of GFI at a cash cost of
$32.7 million (2007: nil); and increased investment
across the portfolio with funding of activities in
Thailand of $37.4 million (2007: $10.1 million),
Indonesia of $166.8 million (2007: $28.3 million), the
Philippines of $19.1 million (2007: $8.8 million), Lao
PDR of $7.8 million (2007: $1.8 million) and Vietnam
of $17.6 million (2007: $2.3 million). In addition,
2008 investing outflows included payments of a
pre-acquisition loan to GFI of $32.4 million (2007:
payment of $17.5 million) to fund its ongoing
investment programme, partly offset by receipt of
$1.5 million for sale of the USA Crystal asset,
a repayment of $5.9 million (2007: payment of
$5.8 million) of the Group’s bank deposits that have
been provided as collateral for bank guarantees in
respect of the Group’s Thailand and Vietnam assets
and by interest received on loans outstanding and
cash reserves of $3.5 million (2007: $7.4 million).

2008 cash flow from financing activities was
$259.6 million (2007: $16.3 million) The Group’s
refinancing of its SMBC led $37 million facility at the
beginning of the year to the BNPP led $200 million
reserves based lending facility during the year
generated funds of $89.7 million (2007: nil) net of
transaction fees. This comprised repayment of the
SMBC led facility of $25.7 million, fees in respect of
the BNPP bridge facility of $1.7 million and net
proceeds from the BNPP led reserves based lending
facility of $117.2 million. Interest paid of $5.9 million
(2007: $2.3 million) was predominantly in respect of
the Group’s debt facilities. Other financial payments
of $3.4 million (2007: nil) was for the purchase of oil
derivatives, the details of which are set-out below.
In addition, the Group’s equity issues during
2008 generated funds of $179.2 million net of
transaction fees.

Cash and net cash

At 1 January 2008, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of $116.9 million, with outstanding
borrowings of $25.3 million, equivalent to a net
cash position of $91.6 million. During 2008, the
Group’s net cash outflow totalled $15.4 million
(2007: $37.1 million) with debt increasing by
$135.2 million (2007: nil). After exchange adjustments
of $1.5 million (2007 $1.8 million), the Group’s total
cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2008
totalled $103.0 million, with outstanding borrowings
of $157.0 million, equivalent to a net debt position
of $54.0 million.

Post balance sheet events

On 16 January 2009, the Group sold its $45.00/bbl
put options of 1,500 bpd for the period February to
June 2009 and 4,000 bpd for the period July to
December 2009. In turn, the Group purchased a
forward sale (swap) of 2,500 bpd at an average of
$53.83/bbl for period February to December 2009
and puts options at $54.00/bbl for 1,500 bpd for the
period July to December 2009. Additionally, the
Group realised $0.8 million from the transactions.

In January 2009, the Group also drew down a further
$15.6 million against the reserves based lending
facility, taking total borrowings to $176.5 million.

On 10 March 2009, the Group signed a PSC for Block
31, offshore southern Vietnam as operator of the PSC
with a 60% working interest.

Riskmanagement

The identification of, and mitigation for, risks are
of critical importance to the Group as it continues
its rapid growth and increasingly moves to operate
its activities.

The challenging economic environment has lead
to increased commodity price risk and potential
counterparty risk. The Group’s Executive Directors
constantly monitor the Group’s risk exposures reports
to the Audit Committee on a six monthly basis,
and more frequent updates on any particular risks
as required. The Audit Committee provides oversight
whilst ultimate authority remains with the Board
of Directors.
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A summary of the Group’s key risks, as currently identified, is provided below.

Strategic risks

Group’s strategy execution fails to create shareholder value

Identification and • The Group maintains a comprehensive risk register covering strategic,
mitigation of risk operational, financial and other risks and the specific mitigating actions

• Board, Audit Committee and Senior Management regularly updated on the
Group risk register and profile.

Portfolio mix • Diverse base of oil and gas assets with a mixture of fiscal regimes

Capital allocation • Consistent 80/20 capital allocation (80% capital into discovered reserves and
resources; 20% into exploration)

• Annual budgeting process approved by Board. Board reviews allocation of
capital against stated 80/20 guidance

Organic and acquisition • Board level discussion and approval of growth strategy and
led growth any acquisitions.

Regional macroeconomic • Regular monitoring of regional economic, political, oil, gas, power
market information

Operational risks

Operational events that impact on operational delivery, corporate reputation, revenues

HSE • Group HSE policy reinforced at all levels of operations. Group compliance with
World Bank’s Equator Principles. Clear incident reporting and investigation
procedures.

Drilling operations • Robust internal debate and challenge at all levels of exploration process,
consistent approach to technical and commercial risking of drilling activities.

Oil/liquids spill at • Clearly established protocol for dealing with spill or other
operated asset operational emergencies.

Local community issues • Robust public consultation central to operations.

CSR • Detailed CSR policy and programmes implemented across operations.

Rig and services availability • Planning process in place that allows sufficient time for procurement.

Insurable risks • The Group maintains insurances to reduce the potential impact of the physical
risk associated with its oil and gas activities.

• The Group’s insurance programme includes operator’s extra expense,
construction all risk and general liability in line with normal industry practice.

Asset performance • The Group’s portfolio is increasingly diversified, reducing exposure to
any single asset.

Financial risks

Underperforming assets, financial constraints lead to financial stress for theGroup

Liquidity risk • The Group manages its liquidity risk (ensuring sufficient capital is available to
meet near and medium term funding requirements) via a formal budgeting and
forecasting process.

• Budgets, forecasts and related capital requirements are actively monitored to
ensure compliance with the corporate funding plan.

Oil price • PSC effects and certain fixed price gas contracts in Group’s production base
partially hedge oil price volatility.

• Defensive hedging strategy on occasion agreed by the Board to minimise
downside risk to Group cash flows, business plan and debt related coverage ratios.

• 2009 hedging program implemented, comprising forward selling and puts
(as described previously in Financial Review)

Capital and • Constant monitoring of group’s capital investment program and appropriate
operating costs sourcing of contractors and services.

• Regular review of Group operating and overhead costs.

Foreign exchange • The Group accounts and reports in US Dollars and group makes efforts to
exposure preserve funds in US Dollars, consequently there are no material exchange

rate exposures.

Credit and • Credit and counterparty risk to the Group take two forms:
counterparty risk • the risk that a counterparty, including financial institutions, cannot continue

to provide a service or product to the Group or to settle outstanding amounts
due, and

• the risk that a counterparty cannot continue to fund its contributions to a
jointly owned asset or to fund its contractual product purchases.

• The Group invests surplus cash with banks of strong, stable investment grade.
• It monitors closely the funding position of both JV partners and key contractors,

maintains close dialogue with those thought to be high risk and prepares
contingencies where possible.

Interest rate risk • Reviewed at Board level. To date the Group has not hedged against interest
rate exposure.

Debt levels and • The Group has adopted a conservative leveraging of its balance sheet,
capital structure constantly monitoring the amount and structure of its debt and ongoing

compliance with debt related covenants.

Other risks

Market, industry or political risks thatmay impact onGroup operations or cash flows

Fiscal regime • The Group seeks to foster and maintain strong links with host country
governments, regulators and domestic industry partners.

Investor sentiment • The Board maintains a regular dialogue with the Group’s shareholder base to
communicate strategy and understand investor preferences.

Corporate governance • Regular legal appraisal of compliance with Combined Code and other
issues regulatory guidelines

Additional detail on certain financial risks are set-out in notes 22 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 64 to 72.

Nick Cooper
Chief Financial Officer

24 March 2009

Financial review continued
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Salamander is committed to meeting high standards
of health and safety, environmental management
and corporate social responsibility throughout the
organisation. As such HSE and CSR are viewed as key
business priorities and are placed at the heart of all
operational planning.

The Group’s total operated man-hours in 2008
were in excess of 3 million, a sharp increase on 2007
reflecting the increased level of operated activity.
Against this increase in operated man hours the
Group is pleased to have maintained its record of
zero lost time incidents and sustaining this
performance remains a key goal for the Group
moving forward.

Building, and importantly maintaining, a good
reputation for our CSR activities helps to define
Salamander as a company in the countries in
which we operate. The CSR projects we undertake
are designed first and foremost to benefit the
communities in which we operate and they also
lower the company’s risk profile and can contribute
indirectly to the bottom line.

During 2008, Salamander expanded its operations
across all facets of the business, including exploration
and production activities. In parallel with this growth
the Company devoted considerable resource to
expanding its commitment to CSR. The company has
stated that it will adhere to the World Bank Equator
Principles that provide a benchmark for ensuring
projects are socially responsible and reflect sound
environmental management practices.

In line with this commitment Salamander has
either established, or enhanced, policies relating to
Public Consultation and Disclosure, Environmental
and Social Screening, Land Acquisition and
Compensation, Chance Find Procedures and
Group Community Development Strategy.

Consideration of these policies plays a central role
in operational planning. Salamander seeks to ensure
that the interests of the communities in which we
work are respected and to foster and support self
sustaining enterprise in these communities.

All of our General Managers are tasked with
developing a CSR strategy and specific project
proposals for their areas of operation that meet the
objectives specified in the Company CSR policy.
These proposals are then presented before the
Group CSR Steering Committee for ratification.
This committee meets twice yearly and is also
responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of
the company’s CSR activities and ensuring they
are meeting the stated objectives.

Country overview

Indonesia
The Group has been involved with several
community programs in support of its operations
throughout Indonesia.

In the Bontang PSC, East Kalimantan, Salamander
completed an environmental impact assessment
survey ahead of the drilling of the Tutung Alpha-1 and
Tutung Alpha-2 wells. This established procedures for
water and soil samples to be collected throughout the
operations to ensure that there was no contamination
of the local environment. Public consultations were
conducted with the local communities who were keen
to understand the local employment opportunities and
to suggest projects that would be of benefit in the area.

During the consultation process, the two villages
nearest to the operations, Muara Bengalon and
Sakerat, made requests for a village community centre
and for repairs to the village Mosque. Salamander
provided the materials for these works and members
of the local community completed the construction,
allowing them to develop skills to deploy elsewhere
and to utilize in the maintenance and up-keep of
the buildings.

Construction and renovation were completed in
August 2008 and the buildings are now focal points for
these communities.

Salamander assumed the operatorship of the Glagah-
Kambuna TAC in August 2008 when the development
of the Kambuna gas condensate field was in progress.
Comprehensive environmental impact assessments
were undertaken by the previous operator and
approved by the Indonesian authorities. Salamander
assumed responsibility for the development with a
need to agree compensation with land owners whose
property was in the planned path of the onshore
pipeline. These activities were completed promptly
and with the full support of the local land owners.

The next phase of the CSR programme around the
Kambuna development will see a planting programme
to the mangrove area at the point where the pipeline

Corporate social responsibility comes onshore. A comprehensive long term CSR
programme is being planned and ongoing social and
environmental monitoring will be completed every six
months with the next survey due in June 2009.

Thailand
During 2008 Salamander was engaged in several
community support and environmental activities
across all of its operated blocks.

In Block’s L26/50 and L15/50 Salamander carried out
public consultation and awareness programmes as
part of the process of planning for seismic surveys.
This involved listening to opinions and concerns from
locals in the survey area and centred on the planned
use of explosives, environmental impact and local
employment opportunities. Salamander was pleased
to satisfactorily address all concerns.

A seismic survey was completed in Block L26/50
and local staff were employed to work alongside
the seismic contractors and a local procurement
programme was initiated for housing, supplies and
transport. Compensation for crop damage and access
to land was paid to all affected land owners within
one month of the survey completion. Follow-up
environmental and social monitoring after the survey
will be carried out during 2009.

In the Bualuang Production block B8/38, Salamander
was involved in public consultation and awareness
programmes ahead of offshore operations
planned for 2009. The majority of the communities
concerns centred around the fishing exclusion zone,
compensation for fishermen for lost earnings and the
possible impact on tourism and environment. Several
requests for community support were raised during
the meeting which are currently being evaluated

The Bualuang oil field commenced production in
2008 and an environmental monitoring survey around
the production facilities was completed in December
2008. The results of this survey have detected no
measurable impact on the environment since the
field went into production.

Furthermore, Salamander is preparing a marine
resource restoration program which will be carried
out in April 2009 that will see one million shrimp and
25,000 sea bass released in the mangrove area of
the local national park.

Salamander is currently in the process of evaluating
further CSR projects that will be implemented
during 2009.

Vietnam
In Vietnam, Salamander operates in a densely
populated area of the Cuu Long River Delta that is

predominantly agricultural. As part of the planning
process for the extensive seismic survey that was
conducted in 2008, Salamander Energy worked in
partnership with PetroVietnam to complete the
requisite social screening, environmental studies
and consultation process throughout the three
provinces that make up Block DBSCL-01. Ahead of
the commencement of operations, Salamander sent
representatives to liaise with members of the local
communities to assess possible CSR projects.

Out of this consultation it became clear that there
was a desire to support those children identified as
being most in need in the provinces, specifically
those who were not attending school and being
deprived a formal education as they could not afford
books or uniform. In association with PetroVietnam,
Salamander successfully distributed 25,000
notebooks and 300 uniforms to pupils to address
this need and enable them to continue their studies.

Reconnaissance work has started on the second phase
of this project for 2009 which will seek to replicate and
build on the successful project delivered in 2008.

By working so closely with the local community
Salamander is able to engender strong levels of
support and goodwill for its operational activities.

Lao PDR
The Group completed an Environmental Screening
Study prior to acquisition of a seismic survey in the
Savannakhet PSC. This highlighted an area described
as a ‘Managed Resource Protected Area’ and the
seismic programme was altered to avoid this forest
area. The biodiversity of the block is rich with
evergreen forest and large vertebrates. Rigorous
procedures were put in place to protect the
environment and minimize the impact on the
local inhabitants.

There was extensive contact with local governors and
community leaders before and during the seismic
operations. A full time community relations officer was
employed, complimented by another team who were
based in the field communicating with the local
farmers. Minimal damage to crops resulted from
careful planning and positioning of the seismic lines
and compensation was paid for crop damage.

The Group insisted that all contractors and employees
adhere to its HSE policy. As a result awareness of the
benefit of wearing safety belts in cars was increased
and through provision of first aid and HSE awareness
training it is hoped there will be a long term benefit to
the community.

20
B
us
in
es
s
re
vi
ew

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8

21
B
us
in
es
s
re
vi
ew

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8



23
B
o
ar
d
o
fd

ir
ec
to
rs
an
d
ad

vi
so
rs

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

E
ne

rg
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8

Board of directors and advisers 1 Charles Jamieson
Chairman(N)

Charles Jamieson is Salamander’s Chairman.
He holds an MBA from INSEAD and is a chartered
accountant. Prior to joining Salamander, he spent
over 25 years with Premier Oil plc where he held
a number of posts, including Finance Director and
Chief Executive Officer. He is currently also Chairman
of Vostok Energy Ltd.

2 JamesMenzies
Chief executive officer

James Menzies is a founder of Salamander and
its Chief Executive Officer. He holds a BSc (Hons) in
Geology and an MSc in Geophysics and Planetary
Physics. After a period as a geophysicist at
Schlumberger and ERC, he spent eleven years at
LASMO plc holding a variety of posts including
senior geophysicist in Vietnam, chief geophysicist
in Indonesia, head of corporate development and
head of strategy and corporate affairs. He spent
four years as a senior partner at Lambert Energy
Advisory prior to the founding of Salamander.

3 Nick Cooper
Chief financial officer

Nick Cooper is a founder of Salamander and its
Chief Financial Officer. He holds a BSc (Hons) in
Geophysical Sciences, a PhD in Exploration
Geophysics and an MBA from INSEAD. He spent
five years as a geophysicist at BG and Amoco and
then was an upstream consultant for two years at
Booz-Allen & Hamilton. Prior to the founding of
Salamander, he spent five years as a vice-president
in corporate finance (oil and gas) at Goldman Sachs,
of which two years was spent in Singapore.

4 Mike Buck
Chief operating officer

Mike Buck is Salamander’s Chief Operating Officer.
He holds a BSc (Hons) in Geology with Geophysics
and an MSc in Petroleum Geology (dist.). He spent
twenty years with LASMO plc as a geophysicist in
Indonesia and the UK Continental Shelf, chief
geophysicist in Colombia, exploration manager in
Vietnam and Exploration and general manager in
Libya. He then spent four years with ENI as managing
director in Tehran and managing director in Pakistan.
Overall he has 28 years of international exploration
and production experience.

5 Struan Robetson
Senior Independent
Non-executive Director(#N)(R)(A)

Struan Robertson is Salamander’s Senior Independent
Non-executive Director and was educated at the
University of Natal and the University of Cape Town,
followed by Wharton Business School. He spent over
23 years at BP plc where he held a number of posts,
including CEO of Oil Trading International, Executive
Chairman of BP Asia Pacific based in Singapore and
Downstream Senior Vice President for Technology
and Marketing, based in London. Between 2000 and
2004 he was Group Chief Executive of Wates Group
Ltd. He currently holds non-executive directorships
with International Power plc, Tomkins plc, Henderson
TR Pacific Investment Trust plc and Forth Ports plc.

6 Michael Sibson
Non-executive Director

Michael Sibson is a Non-independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and was appointed to
the Board in October 2008. He is currently a Director
in 3i’s Oil, Gas and Power team based in Aberdeen.
Mike started his career as a drilling engineer with
Shell before moving to 3i in 2000 where he has been
involved in 3i’s other E&P investments including
Venture Production plc, Delta Hydrocarbons BV
and Energy Development Partners Ltd. Mike was a
Non-executive Director of Salamander Energy
Limited between September 2005 and October 2006,
when he resigned from the Board ahead of the
Company’s Initial Public Offering. He is currently a
Non-executive Director of Energy Development
Partners Ltd.

7 Robert Cathery
Non-executive Director(#R)(N)

Robert Cathery is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and was a director of Vickers
da Costa and Schroders Securities as well as Head of
Corporate Sales at SG Securities (London) Ltd. He also
spent four years as Head of Oil & Gas at Canaccord
Europe. He is currently a non-executive director of
Vostok Energy Ltd, SOCO International plc, Central
Asia Metals Ltd and Indigovision Group plc.

8 James Coleman
Non- executive Director

James Coleman is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He is a Canadian citizen
and a senior partner and former Chairman of the
international law firm of Macleod Dixon based in
Calgary and was a board member of GFI Oil & Gas
Corporation until that company was acquired by
Salamander on 17 March 2008. He is currently a

Non-executive Director of Anterra Energy Inc and
a Non-executive Chairman of Arawak Energy Ltd,
Sulliden Exploration, Inc, Energold Drilling, Inc
and Gold Reserve, Inc – all publicly quoted
companies in Canada.

9 John Crowle
Non-executive Director(R)(A)

John Crowle is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and was educated at
Durham University and Stanford University Business
School. He spent more than 18 years at Enterprise Oil
where he held a number of posts, including Group
Exploration Manager. Between 2002 and 2004 he
was at Royal Dutch Shell as General Manager of
New Ventures Organisation Cluster, based in
The Hague. He is currently a non-executive director
of Rockhopper Exploration plc and a member of the
Durham University Earth Sciences Advisory Board.

10 Michael Pavia
Non-executive Director(#A)

Michael Pavia is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and was appointed to the
Board in July 2007. A chartered accountant and
Chairman of the ICAEW’s Audit Committee, he has
had a distinguished career in the energy sector, being
finance director of UK independent LASMO plc and
then SEEBOARD plc (now EDF Energy plc). He is
currently a non-executive director of Thames Water
Utilities Ltd and Telecom Plus plc.

Memberships of board committees
# Committee chairman
(N) Nomination Committee member
(R) Remuneration Committee member
(A) Audit Committee member

Corporate advisers

Joint corporate brokers
Goldman Sachs and Oriel Securities Ltd

Registered auditor
Deloitte LLP

Bankers
HSBC Bank plc

Legal advisers
Clifford Chance LLP

Financial PR
Pelham PR
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The Group’s proven and probable commercial reserves at 31 December 2008 were as follows:
Thailand Indonesia Total Total

Oil Gas Oil Gas Oil Gas
MMbo BCF MMbo BCF MMbo BCF MMboe

At 1 January 2008 0.6 99.0 11.2 63.3 11.8 162.3 38.8
Acquisitions 9.0 – 4.3 49.3 13.3 49.3 21.5
Revisions 7.3 – 1.5 11.7 8.8 11.7 10.8
Production (0.6) (2.9) (1.2) (6.9) (1.8) (9.8) (3.4)

At 31December 2008 16.3 96.1 15.8 117.4 32.1 213.5 67.7

Proved and probable commercial reserves are based on the Group’s reserves reports produced by the Group’s
independent engineer, RPS Energy, as supplemented by the Group with additional and more recent information.

The Group provides for amortisation on its oil and gas properties on a net entitlements basis, which reflects
the share of future production estimated to be attributable to the Group under the terms of the PSCs related to
each field. Total proved and probable entitlement reserves were 50.1 MMboe at 31 December 2008 (2007:
25.4 MMboe).

The 2008 reserves replacement ratio was 950% (2007: negative 25%).

The Directors submit their report together with the audited Consolidated and Parent Company Financial
Statements of Salamander Energy PLC for the year and period ended 31 December 2008 respectively.

Salamander Energy PLC is the holding company of the Group and all its issued ordinary shares were admitted
to listing on the main market of the London Stock Exchange on 5 December 2006.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group which are intended to continue into the future are as an independent oil
and gas exploration, development and production company focused on building a portfolio of assets in Asia.
The Group operates through a number of subsidiary and other undertakings, including Joint Venture Entities,
which are set out in note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group’s head office is in London with regional offices in Singapore, Thailand, Indonesia, Lao PDR
and Vietnam.

Enhanced business review

The Company is required by the Section 417 Companies Act 2006 to include a review of its business
in this report. The information that fulfils the requirement is contained in the following sections of the annual
report and should be treated as forming part of this report by reference:

Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s Review on pages 2 to 3
Operational Review on pages 6 to 12
Financial Review on pages 14 to 17
CSR on pages 20 to 21
Directors’ Report on pages 25 to 28
Principal Risks and uncertainties described on pages 18 to 19

Directors

The Directors who served in office during the financial year were as follows:
• Charles Jamieson
• James Menzies
• Mike Buck
• Nick Cooper
• Andrew Cochran (resigned on 31 December 2008)
• Struan Robertson
• John Crowle
• Robert Cathery
• Michael Pavia
• James Coleman (appointed on 8 May 2008)
• Mike Sibson (appointed on 16 October 2008)

Results and dividends

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year-ended 31 December 2008 are as set out on pages 50 to 71.
The Group’s loss after tax for the year was $66.4 million (2007: post-tax profit $4.6 million).

The Company has declared no dividend for the year-ended 31 December 2008 (2007: nil). It is not the Directors’
current intention that the Company will pay a dividend for the foreseeable future.

Directors reportStatement of proved and probable reserves (working interest basis)
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Significant shareholders

At 20 March 2008, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this Annual Report, the significant
interests in the voting rights of the Company’s issued ordinary shares as notified in accordance with Chapter 5
of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules were as follows:

Voting rights attaching to Percentage of total
issued ordinary shares voting rights Nature of holding

3i Quoted Private Equity 23,092,997 15.12 Direct/Indirect
FinVentures UK 19,870,897 13.01 Direct
Artemis Investment Management Ltd 16,906,469 11.07 Direct
Floriline SA 7,600,331 4.97 Direct/Indirect
Fidelity Investments 6,617,407 4.33 Indirect
Legal & General 6,245,853 4.09 Direct
Encap Investments LP 5,930,187 3.88 Direct

Employees

The Company has a policy of providing employees with information about the Company and regular meetings
between management and employees are held to exchange information and ideas.

2008 saw an increase in employee levels in line with the growth in operated activity. At year end Salamander
employed 129 people compared with 38 employees at the end of 2007.

The Group has a diverse workforce comprised of a mixture of local employees and ex-patriots. It is an equal
opportunities employer and gives every consideration to applications for employment by disabled persons
where the requirements of the job may be adequately filled by a disabled person. Where existing employees
become disabled, it is the Company’s policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under
similar terms and conditions and to provide training, career development and promotion wherever appropriate.

The Company requires all employees to conform to the policies outlined in the Business Code of Conduct.

Annual general meeting

The Company’s third Annual General Meeting as a listed public company will be held at the Andaz Hotel,
Liverpool Street, London EC2M 7QN at 2pm on Tuesday, 30 June 2009. The notice of meeting and an
explanatory circular to shareholders setting out the AGM business accompanies this Annual Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board has established a process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks the group
faces which are set-out in the financial review on pages 18 to 19.

Payment policy

The Group’s policy in respect of its vendors is to agree and establish terms of payment when contracting for the
goods or services and to abide by those payment terms. The Company is the holding Company of the Group
and has no trade creditors.

Charitable and political donations

During the year the Group made no political donations (2007: nil). Charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to $41,000 (2007:$14,000).

Directors’ interests

The Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company and Directors’ remuneration are as set out in the
remuneration report on pages 34 to 39.

Capital structure and takeovers directive

Details of the authorised and issued share capital together with details of movements in share capital during
the year are included in note 24 to the financial statements. The company has one class of ordinary shares.

Article 55 of the Company’s Articles restricts the percentage of Salamander shares that may be held by
Canadian residents to below 10 per cent so as to permit the Company to rely on exemptions from certain
obligations which the Company may be subject to under Canadian Securities Law. Article 55 of the Company’s
Articles confers upon the Board the power to require Canadian citizens beneficially owning Salamander shares
to transfer their Salamander Shares when the threshold of 10 per cent Canadian Salamander Shareholders
is approached. In the event that such Canadian Salamander Shareholders are required to transfer their
Salamander Shares under Article 55, the relevant Salamander Shares will be sold in the market at the best price
reasonably obtainable in the market and the net proceeds (if any) will be remitted to the relevant Canadian
Salamander Shareholder. This compulsory transfer power is generally available to the Board to exercise from
time to time, and the Board is free to exercise this power in its absolute discretion. The directors are no aware of
any agreements between holders of the company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of
securities or on voting rights.

Details of employee share schemes are disclosed on pages 34 to 39 of the remuneration report and in note 25
to the financial statements.

No person has any special rights of control over the company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

With regard to the appointment and replacement of directors, the company is governed by its Articles of
Association, the Combined Code, the Companies Acts and related legislation. Pursuant to an understanding
between the Company and 3i QPE PLC, for as long as 3i QPE PLC holds not less than 10 per cent of the
Company’ issued share capital, 3i QPE PLC will have the right to appoint, remove and re-appoint one
non-executive director of the Company, subject to confirmation of its nomination by the Nomination
Committee. In the event the Nomination Committee objects to its nomination then 3i QPE PLC shall be entitled
to select further nominees until approval is received from the Nomination Committee. Mike Sibson has been
nominated and approved by the Nomination Committee in respect of this right. The Company’s Articles
of Association give power to the Board to appoint directors but require the directors to submit themselves for
election at the first Annual General Meeting following their election and thereafter re-election by shareholders
at least every three years. The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders.
Powers relating to the issuing and buy back of shares are also included in the Articles and the authority to issue
shares is renewed by shareholders each year at the Annual General Meeting. The powers of directors are
described in the Board Terms of Reference, copies of which are available on request, and the Corporate
Governance Statement on page 29 to 33.

In relation to agreements that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company, details
of the BNPP led loan facility are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. There are, in addition,
a number of other agreements so affected, such as commercial contracts, property lease arrangements and
employee share plans, none of which are considered to be significant in terms of their likely impact on the
business of the group as a whole.

Directors report continued
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Salamander strives to apply best industry practice in all of its activities. The Board, Management and
Staff of Salamander are committed to applying the highest standards of business ethics, corporate governance
and health, safety and environmental control. To this end, the Group has put in place policies and procedures
within which it conducts its activities along with working practices and a business culture to ensure openness
and full accountability.

Compliancewith the financial reporting council’s combined code on corporate governance

This report describes how the Company has applied the principles set out in Section 1 of the 2006 Combined
Code on Corporate Governance (‘the Code’) published by the Financial Reporting Council. It also discloses the
extent to which the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code.

The Board considers it has complied with the Code in all aspects throughout the financial year.

Board of directors

During 2008, following the appointment of James Coleman and Michael Sibson, the Board comprised of eleven
Directors including the Non-executive Chairman, four Executive Directors, five independent Non-executive
Directors and one non-Independent Non-executive Director. Mike Sibson is not considered to be independent
since he is appointed pursuant to an understanding between the Company and 3i QPE PLC that for as long as
3i QPE PLC holds not less than 10 per cent of the Company issued share capital, 3i QPE PLC will have the right
to appoint, remove and re-appoint one non-executive director of the Company, subject to confirmation of its
nomination by the Nomination Committee. Andrew Cochran resigned on 31 December 2008. All of the
Executive Directors have extensive upstream oil and gas experience. The majority of the Non-executive
Directors have held senior appointments in oil and gas companies and, together, the Non-executive Directors
bring a broad range of business and commercial experience to the Board. The biographies of the Board
members are set out on pages 22 to 23.

The role of the Board is clearly defined. The Board is accountable to shareholders for the creation and delivery
of strong, sustainable financial performance and long-term shareholder value. To achieve this, the Board directs
and monitors the Group’s affairs within a framework of controls which enable risk to be assessed and managed
effectively. It sets the Group’s strategic aims, ensuring that the necessary resources are in place to achieve those
aims, and reviews management and financial performance. The Board also has responsibility for setting the
Group’s core values and standards of business conduct and for ensuring that these, together with the Group’s
obligations to its stakeholders, are widely understood throughout the Group.

There is a clear separation in the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman’s key
responsibilities are the effective running of the Board, ensuring that the Board plays a full and constructive
part in the development and determination of the Group’s strategy, and acting as guardian of the Board’s
decision-making process. The key responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer are managing the Group’s
business, proposing and developing the Group’s strategy and overall commercial objectives in consultation
with the Board and, as leader of the executive team, implementing the decisions of the Board and its
Committees. In addition, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for maintaining regular dialogue with
major shareholders as part of the Company’s overall investor relations programme.

The Board has established a process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks the Group
faces. Additionally, the Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Corporate governance statement

Auditors

As far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s Auditors
are unaware. In addition, each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director
in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s Auditors
are aware of that information. This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the
provisions of Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte LLP were first appointed as Auditors to the Company in September 2005 and have expressed their
willingness to continue as Auditors. A resolution to reappoint Deloitte LLP as the Group’s Auditors will be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance
and position are set out in the enhanced Business Review as detailed on pages 28. The financial position of the
group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial Review on pages
14 to 19 and note19 to the financial statements. In addition, note 22 to the financial statements includes the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives;
details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Directors believe that the group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in
trading performance, show the Group is adequately financed and is able to operate within the level of its
current facility.

In 2008, the Group completed a $200 million equity placing and issue. In addition, as highlighted in
note 19 to the financial statements, the Group meets its investments required to realise its development
projects and committed exploration and appraisal programme through a $200 million reserves based lending
facility which is due for renewal in 2015. The current economic conditions create uncertainty, particularly over
the oil price, which affects revenue from the Group’s production and the availability under the reserves based
lending facility, the basis of which is discussed in note 19 of the financial statements. The Group has undertaken
a 2009 hedging program to manage this risk.

The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in economic
assumptions such as the oil price, show that the Group will be able to operate within the level of its current
reserves based lending facility.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Subsequent events

Subsequent events are as set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2009

Douglas Barrie
Company Secretary

24 March 2009

Directors report continued
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Corporate governance statement continued

Directors have access to a regular supply of financial, operational and strategic information, as well as the
Company Secretary, to assist them in the discharge of their duties. Such information is provided as part of the
normal management reporting cycle undertaken by senior management. Board papers are generally circulated
seven days in advance of Board meetings. In addition, each formal Board meeting includes a review of the
history, performance and future potential of an individual asset or business unit designed to ensure that all
material assets are considered on a cyclical basis and to enable Board members to familiarise themselves with
the key assets and operations of the Group. The Board formally reviews the Group’s risk register twice a year
with the constant monitoring of events by the Executive Directors.

All Directors and Board Committees have access to independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, as and when required.

The Company Secretary, in consultation with the Chairman and Chief Executive provides an induction process
for each new director tailored to their individual knowledge and experience.

The Group maintains Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance cover, the level of which is reviewed annually.

A formal schedule of matters reserved for Board approval is in place. The matters reserved include: the Group’s
overall strategy, approval of annual and interim results, material acquisitions and disposals, material contracts
and major capital expenditure projects and budgets. Subject to those reserved matters, the Board delegates
authority for the management of the business primarily to the Chief Executive and a senior executive
committee. Certain other matters are delegated to the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees,
each of which is described in more detail below.

The Companies Act 2006 allows directors of public companies to authorise conflicts and potential conflicts of
interests of directors where the Articles of Association contain a provision to that effect. Shareholders approved
amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association at the 2008 Annual General Meeting which included
provisions giving the Board authority to authorise matters which may result in the Directors breaching their duty
to avoid a conflict of interest. Directors of the Company who have an interest in matters under discussion at
Board meeting must declare that interest and abstain from voting. Only directors who have no interest in the
matter being considered are able to approve a conflict of interest and, in taking the decision the directors must
act in a way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the company’s success. The directors
are able to impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation if they think this is appropriate. During the year
procedures, based upon the GC100 guidance, were put in place to review any conflicts of interest. The Board
considers that these procedures are operating effectively.

Board performance

Annual performance appraisal of the Board, its Committees, individual Directors and the Chairman is carried
out, with the evaluation process involving Directors’ input to a detailed questionnaire followed by individual
interviews and feedback with the Chairman. The results of the survey, together with any recommendations for
improving effectiveness, are presented by the Chairman to the whole Board for discussion. The Non-executive
Directors, led by the Senior Independent Director, meet without the Chairman to evaluate his performance in
leading the Board and chairing meetings to conduct the Board’s business.

In addition to their attendance at Board and, as appropriate, Committee meetings, the Chairman and the
Non-executive Directors will also meet formally (without executive management present) to examine and
review the Board performance of the executive management, both individually and as a team; this review
process is in part dealt with by the Board Committees referred to below. Separately, the Chairman and
Chief Executive hold informal meetings with the Non-executive Directors to discuss issues affecting the
Group such as target objectives and remuneration matters.

The Board regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control which has been in place
throughout 2008 and to the date of this report and which is in accordance with the revised guidance on internal
control published in October 2005 (the Turnbull Guidance). The Board’s monitoring covers control matters,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management. It is based principally on
reviewing reports from management to consider whether significant risks are identified, evaluated, managed
and controlled and whether any significant weaknesses are promptly remedied and indicate a need for
more extensive monitoring. The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its review responsibilities.
A summary of the key risks facing the Group and mitigating actions is described in the Financial Review.

During the course of its review of the system of internal control, the Board has not identified nor been advised
of any failings or weaknesses which it has determined to be significant. Therefore a confirmation in respect of
necessary actions has not been considered applicable.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years. Thereafter, they may serve one or
more three year terms subject to satisfactory performance. The letters of appointment of each Non-executive
Director are available for inspection. The Senior Independent Non-executive Director is Struan Robertson.
In this role he is available to shareholders who have concerns that cannot be resolved through discussion with
the Chief Executive or Chairman.

All Directors appointed by the Board are required by the Company’s Articles of Association to be re-elected
by shareholders at the next AGM after their appointment. Subsequently, Directors are subject to re-election by
shareholders at least every three years. Prior to such re-elections, the Chairman will review each Director’s
performance to ensure they continue to be effective and demonstrate commitment to the role.

The Board meets at least quarterly during the year and on an ad hoc basis as required. The attendance record of
each Director is shown below.

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

Charles Jamieson 10 N/A N/A 2
James Menzies 11 N/A N/A N/A
Mike Buck 11 N/A N/A N/A
Nick Cooper 11 N/A N/A N/A
Andrew Cochran 10 N/A N/A N/A
Struan Robertson 10 3 3 2
Michael Pavia 11 4 N/A N/A
John Crowle 10 4 3 N/A
Robert Cathery 9 N/A 3 2
James Coleman1 6 N/A N/A N/A
Mike Sibson2 3 N/A N/A N/A
Number ofmeetings 11 4 3 2

1 Since date of appointment on 8 May 2008
2 Since date of appointment on 16 October 2008

In addition to the formal meetings of the Board, the Chairman and Chief Executive maintain frequent contact
with the other Directors to discuss any issues of concern they may have relating to the Group or as regards their
area of responsibility and to keep them fully briefed on ongoing matters relating to the Group’s operations.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Remuneration committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee are currently Robert Cathery (Chairman), John Crowle and
Struan Robertson.

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to determine and agree with the Board the framework
or broad policy for the remuneration of the Group’s Chief Executive, Chairman, the executive directors, the
Company Secretary and such other members of the executive management as it is designated to consider.
The remuneration of Non-executive Directors is a matter for the Chairman and the executive members of the
Board. No Director may be involved in any decisions as to their own remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are included on the Company’s website,
www.salamander-energy.com

Nomination committee

The members of the Nomination Committee are Struan Robertson (Chairman), Charles Jamieson and
Robert Cathery.

The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference, which are included on the Company’s website,
www.salamander-energy.com, are to review regularly the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) required of the Board compared to its current position and
make recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes. The Nominations Committee also
considers future considerations of the composition of the Board, taking into account the challenges
and opportunities facing the Group, and what skills and expertise are needed on the Board.

Succession plans for keymanagement roles, including the ExecutiveDirectors, are reviewed on an
ongoing basis.

Shareholder relations

Communication with shareholders is given high priority and there is regular dialogue with institutional
investors, as well as general presentations to analysts at the time of the release of the annual and half year
results. The Board receives regular investor relations reports covering key investor meetings and activities,
as well as shareholder and investor feedback. The Group publishes its periodic results and other stock market
announcements on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website www.salamander-energy.com
and regular news updates in relation to the Group, including the status of exploration and development
programmes, are also included on the website. Shareholders and other interested parties can subscribe to
receive these news updates by e-mail by registering online on the website.

Audit committee

The members of the Audit Committee are Michael Pavia (Chairman), Struan Robertson and John Crowle.
Other Board members may also be invited to attend committee meetings.

Meetings are held at least three times a year. The Chief Financial Officer is invited to attend meetings
where appropriate and the Group’s Auditors are regularly invited to attend meetings, including once at the
planning stage before the audit and once during the year-end audit and half-year review at the reporting stage.
At least once a year the Audit Committee will also meet the Group’s external auditors without Management
being present.

The work of the Audit Committee in respect of the financial year has included:
• Consideration of matters relating to the appointment of the Group’s Auditors.
• Reviewing the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the Group’s Auditors.
• Reviewing the integrity of the Group’s annual and half-year reports, preliminary results announcements

and any other formal announcement relating to its financial performance.
• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s integration of the acquired GFI operations.
• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control and compliance procedures.
• Reviewing the Group’s arrangements for its employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible

wrongdoing in financial reporting or other matters.

In fulfilling its responsibility of monitoring the integrity of financial reports to shareholders, the Audit Committee
has reviewed accounting principles, policies and practices adopted in the preparation of public financial
information and has examined documentation relating to the annual report and preliminary announcement.
The clarity of disclosures included in the financial statements was reviewed by the Audit Committee, as was the
basis for significant estimates and judgements. In assessing the accounting treatment of major transactions
open to different approaches, the Committee considered written reports by management and the external
auditors. The Committee’s recommendations are submitted to the Board for approval.

The Committee has also considered whether it is appropriate for the Group to establish an internal audit
function. The Committee took account of the fact that the Company is at an early stage of development with
a high degree of central control and concluded that presently there was no need for a dedicated internal
audit resource. The Committee will review its decision at least annually as the size and complexity of the
Group increases.

The Committee also reviewed the independence and effectiveness of the external auditors, particularly in
view of the relatively high level of their non-audit fees, accepting that their independence had been maintained
throughout the audit process for the financial year. The Committee considers that, at this early stage in the
Group’s development, it is more efficient to use a single audit firm to also provide certain non-audit services
for transactions and tax matters. However, to regulate the position, the Committee has established a policy
on the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor. In compiling that policy, which sets out the
external auditor’s permitted and prohibited non-audit services and a fee threshold requiring prior approval by
the Audit Committee for any new engagement, reference was made to Ethical Standard 5 of the Auditing
Practices Board.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are included on the Company’s website,
www.salamander-energy.com
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Executive directors’ remuneration

The Group’s remuneration policy is to provide remuneration packages which ensure that directors and
senior managers are fairly and responsibly rewarded for their contributions. The aim is to provide remuneration
packages which are sufficiently competitive to attract, retain and motivate individuals of the quality required
to achieve the Group’s objectives and thereby enhance shareholder value. The Committee takes account of the
level of remuneration paid to Executive Directors and senior managers of comparable public companies and
best practice standards. It is the intention that this policy will continue to apply for 2009 and subsequent years
subject to ongoing review as appropriate.

The main details of the Executive Directors’ Service Agreements relating to base salary, annual bonus, share
plan awards, pensions and other benefits for 2008 are as set-out below:

a Service agreements
The Service Agreements for the Executive Directors are for no fixed term and may in normal circumstances be
terminated by either party on giving six months’ notice. The Company reserves the right and discretion to pay
the Executive Director in lieu of notice. If the Company terminates the employment of an Executive Director by
exercising its right to pay in lieu of notice, the Company is required to make a payment equal to the aggregate
of basic salary and the cost to the Company of providing other contractual benefits (which excludes bonus) for
the unexpired portion of the duration of any entitlement to notice.

If, within 12 months of a change of control, the Company terminates the employment of an Executive
Director in breach of the terms of his Service Agreement in circumstances where the Company is not entitled
to terminate the Executive Director’s employment, the Executive Director will be entitled to payment of a fixed
sum equal to six months’ base salary (not including accrued bonus). In return for the payment of such a fixed
sum, the Executive Director agrees to waive, release and discharge any entitlement to further or additional
compensation of any kind whatsoever.

Date of contract Notice period

James Menzies 29/11/06 Six months
Mike Buck 29/11/06 Six months
Nick Cooper 29/11/06 Six months
Andrew Cochran 29/11/06 Six months

b Salary
The annual base salaries of the Executive Directors for the year to 31 December 2008 were as follows:

James Menzies, Chief Executive Officer £315,000
Mike Buck, Chief Operating Officer £231,000
Nick Cooper, Chief Financial Officer £262,500
Andrew Cochran, VP, Business Development £231,000

The salary of each Executive Director is subject to regular review by the Remuneration Committee and such a
review took place in November 2008. Salaries were not raised in 2008.

It is expected that approximately 33% of Executive Directors’ remuneration will be fixed with the remaining
performance related.

c Bonus
Each of the Executive Directors is eligible for a discretionary annual bonus up to a maximum of 100% of their
base salary. The bonus may only be payable to the extent that individual and corporate performance targets set
by the Remuneration Committee are achieved in the relevant year.

Remuneration committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee are currently Robert Cathery (Chairman), Struan Robertson
and John Crowle. The Committee’s primary duty is to determine and agree with the Board the framework
or broad policy for the remuneration of the Group’s Chief Executive, the Chairman, the Executive Directors,
the Company Secretary and such other members of the executive management as it is designated to
consider. The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is a matter for the Chairman and the executive
members of the Board.

The main responsibilities of the Committee are to:
• Assess and set compensation levels for Executive Directors and senior managers.
• Review Executive Directors’ and senior managers’ share and other incentive plans prior to award.
• Review compensation levels for Executives and senior managers at least annually.
• Make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the remuneration and terms of employment of

the Directors of the Company and on proposals for granting of share awards pursuant to any share awards
scheme in operation from time to time.

The Chief Executive is invited to attend meetings of the Committee but does not take part in the decision
making of the Committee.

The Committee has access to external consultancy services on remuneration and sector issues. New Bridge
Street Consultants were employed to assist, as required, only with matters relating to the Company’s
Performance Share Plan.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the Company’s website,
www.salamander-energy.com.

Historical comparator performance chart

The Company’s IPO and listing on the London Stock Exchange took place on 5 December 2006. The chart
below shows the Company’s share price performance during 2008 compared with the performance in the same
period of the FTSE All Share Oil & Gas Producers Index and the FTSE250 Index, which the Committee considers
are the closest comparable indices.

60.0%

40.0%

20.0%

0.0%

-20.0%

-40.0%

-60.0%

-80.0%

— SMDR
— FTSE oil and gas production
— FTSE 250

1 This chart looks at the value of the Company during 2008 of £100 invested in the Company’s issued ordinary share capital compared
with the values of £100 invested in the FTSE All Share Oil & Gas Producers Index and the FTSE250. It is assumed that any dividends
are re-invested.

Remuneration report
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The Award will not vest if Salamander’s relative TSR performance over the performance period ranks the Group
below the median of the peer group. 30% of the award will vest if the Company’s TSR performance ranks the
Company at the median of the peer group, 100% of the award will vest if the Company ranks in the upper
quartile and there will be straight line vesting between 30% and 100% if the Company ranks between the
median and the upper quartile of the peer group.

Further information regarding Share Based Payments is included in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

e Benefits
Executive Directors receive a pension contribution (or salary supplement in lieu of pension contributions)
equal to 15% of their salary, private medical cover and life assurance of up to four times salary.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

The Company’s policy on Non-executive Directors’ remuneration is to set compensation at a level which is
sufficiently competitive to attract, retain and motivate high quality non-executives and to be consistent with
best practice standards. Non-executive Directors may not participate in the Company’s PSP or pension
arrangements. Each of the Non-executive Directors is entitled to reimbursement of reasonable expenses
incurred in the course of their duties and to directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover.

The Board reviews Non-executive Directors’ (including the Chairman’s) remuneration periodically to ensure
it remains competitive. Additional fees are paid to the chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. Save in relation to Charles Jamieson, the fees of each Non-executive Director set out below
comprise a £30,000 annual base fee and an additional annual fee of £5,000 for chairing a Board Committee.
Struan Robertson also receives an additional annual fee of £10,000 for his role as Senior Independent
Non-executive Director. John Crowle receives an additional annual fee of £5,000 in recognition of his
responsibility for advising, as required, on technical issues.

All Non- Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the Company. Charles Jamieson,
Struan Robertson, John Crowle and Robert Cathery will continue in office for a term of three years from
27 June 2007. Michael Pavia and James Coleman will continue in office for a term of three years from
30 June 2008. Mike Sibson will offer himself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM and his term of
appointment will be for three years following approval at the AGM. All appointments are subject to satisfactory
performance and the requirements of the Company’s Articles of Association for one-third of the Directors to
retire by rotation and offer themselves for re-appointment at each AGM.

Annual salary £’s Date of contract Notice period

Charles Jamieson 55,000 29/11/06 Three months
Struan Robertson 45,000 29/11/06 One month
Michael Pavia 35,000 9/7/07 One month
John Crowle 35,000 29/11/06 One month
Robert Cathery 35,000 29/11/06 One month
James Coleman 30,000 8/5/08 One month
Mike Sibson – 16/10/08 One month

Aggregate remuneration of directors (audited)

The total amount of directors’ remuneration was as follows:
2008 2007
£’s £’s

Emoluments 2,109,473 1,633,240
Amounts receivable under long term incentive schemes – –

Total aggregate remuneration 2,109,473 1,633,240

d Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’)
In accordance with the Company’s Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) and at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee, all eligible employees including Executive Directors may be awarded Share Options in the
Company (‘Awards’). The Committee supervises the operation of the PSP including the levels of Awards made
to employees and Executive Directors.

The PSP is intended to facilitate the retention and incentivisation of employees of the Group and to align
their interests with those of shareholders by enabling employees, including Executive Directors, to receive
shares in Salamander, subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions and continued employment. At
31 December 2008, a total of 2,489,785 options over ordinary shares (representing 1.6% of the Company’s
issued share capital of 152,781,255 ordinary shares at the year end) were outstanding and granted to eligible
employees including the Executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee believes that the PSP provides an
appropriate degree of flexibility in the way in which a share-based incentive arrangement can be operated by
the Group, while giving due consideration to best and market practice.

The maximum value of Shares over which awards may be granted under the PSP to an executive director in
any financial year will not normally exceed 100% of that individual’s base salary. In circumstances where the
Committee considers it appropriate to do so, including the recruitment or retention of an employee, the
Committee by exception may exceed this 100% limit at its discretion. Awards vest on or following the third
anniversary of the date of grant once the Committee has determined the extent to which the applicable
performance condition (see below) has been satisfied and provided the participant remains an employee with
the Group. Awards, once vested, will normally remain capable of exercise for a period of twelve months.

Awards granted to all employees, including the Executive Directors, will vest based on Salamander’s relative
total shareholder return (‘TSR’) performance against an industry-specific peer group of companies drawn from
the constituents of the FTSE 250, FTSE Small Cap and AIM listed companies in the Oil and Gas Producers sector
with market capitalisations in excess of £100 million at or around the date of grant. The comparator groups for
the 2007 and 2008 Awards are:
2007 Awards 2008Awards

Afren Afren
Antrim Energy Antrim Energy
Bowleven Bowleven
Geopark Holdings Dana Petroleum
Gulfsands Petroleum Faroe Petroleum
Hardy Oil & Gas Geopark Holdings
Imperial Energy Gulfsands Petroleum
JKX Oil & Gas Hardy Oil & Gas
Melrose Resources Imperial Energy
Providence Resources JKX Oil & Gas
Regal Petroleum Max Petroleum
Roc Oil Company Melrose Resources
Serica Energy Oilexco
Sterling Energy Providence Resources
Urals Energy Regal Petroleum

Roc Oil Company
Serica Energy
Sterling Energy
Urals Energy
Valiant Petroleum
Venture Petroleum

Remuneration report continued
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Remuneration report continued

1 Awards are in the form of a nominal cost option and no payment is required for the grant of an Award. However, participants who are
granted nominal cost options under the PSP are required to pay the Company the nominal value of £0.10 for each share issued upon
the exercise of the option.

2 The Committee considers the interests of shareholders when deciding on how the PSP is operated and ensures that no individual is
granted excessive levels of Awards, taking into consideration the overall quantum and structure of that individual’s compensation
package. In circumstances where the Committee considers it appropriate to do so, including the recruitment or retention of an
employee or Executive Director, the Committee may exceed the normal 100% limit at its discretion.

3 The aggregate value of Awards granted in 2008 by the Committee to Mike Buck (Chief Operating Officer) was equivalent to 200% of
his base annual salary, reflecting his increased operational responsibilities and contribution to the Group’s performance.

4 The highest and lowest closing prices of the Company’s shares during the year were £3.56 and £0.77 respectively. The mid-market
price of the Company’s shares at 31 December 2008 was £1.25.

Further details on the Company’s PSP are set-out in the Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 41.

Directors’ interests in shares

The following sets-out the interests of the Directors and their immediate families in the ordinary shares of the
Company during the financial year:

Beneficial shares Non-beneficial PSP interests

At 1 January 08 At 31December 08 At 1 January 08 At 31December 08
Number Number Number Number

Charles Jamieson 659,869 659,869 – –
James Menzies 1,921,158 1,961,158 237,621 350,322
Mike Buck 130,774 130,774 218,255 383,550
Nick Cooper 1,747,866 1,755,236 198,017 291,935
Andrew Cochran 1,736,123 1,736,123 174,255 256,903
Struan Robertson 9,300 9,300 – –
Michael Pavia – 20,000 – –
John Crowle 6,000 13,040 – –
Robert Cathery 659,869 659,869 – –
James Coleman – 55,055 – –
Mike Sibson – – – –

1 The Directors’ holdings in Ordinary Shares at 24 March 2009 were the same as reported at 31 December 2008.

Approval

The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.
Signed on behalf of the Board.

Robert Cathery
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

24 March 2009

Remuneration of directors (audited)

The remuneration of directors during 2008 was as follows:
2008 2007

Base salary Bonus Benefits Total Total
£’s £’s £’s £’s £’s

Executive Directors
James Menzies 315,000 210,000 51,884 576,884 412,016
Mike Buck1 231,000 154,000 76,674 461,674 344,487
Nick Cooper 262,500 175,000 43,299 480,799 369,388
Andrew Cochran 231,000 154,000 39,172 424,172 319,849
Non-executive Directors
Charles Jamieson 55,000 – – 55,000 55,000
Struan Robertson 45,000 – – 45,000 45,000
Michael Pavia 35,000 – – 35,000 17,500
John Crowle 35,000 – – 35,000 35,000
Robert Cathery 35,000 – – 35,000 35,000
James Coleman 22,622 – – 22,622 –
Mike Sibson2 – – – – –

Total remuneration of directors 1,267,122 693,000 211,029 2,171,151 1,633,240

1 In line with the Group’s Policy, expatriate employees are paid a net salary by the Group in their host country based on their base
salary and other factors associated with living abroad. The salary and benefits reported above for Mike Buck includes his net
expatriate salary grossed-up for income tax payable in his host country, and other expatriate benefits.

2 At the time of Mike Sibson’s appointment the company entered into an agreement with 3i Investments PLC (who act as investment
advisers to 3i QPE PLC) which provides for a fee of £30,000 inclusive of VAT. Only expenses are paid to Mike Sibson.

Andrew Cochran resigned from the Company effective 31 December 2008 and any payments to him during
2009 will be disclosed in the 2009 Annual Report and Accounts.

At 31 December 2008, the following Awards had been made to the Executive Directors under the PSP:
Grant price Options granted Earliest exercise Latest exercise At 1 January 08 At 31December 08

Award date £’s Number Date Date Number Number

James Menzies 13/12/06 2.67 112,360 13/12/09 13/12/10
James Menzies 5/10/07 2.395 125,261 5/10/10 5/10/11 237,621 350,322
James Menzies 28/3/08 2.795 112,701 28/3/11 28/3/12

Mike Buck 13/12/06 2.67 82,397 13/12/09 13/12/10
Mike Buck 5/10/07 2.395 91,858 5/10/10 5/10/11 218,255 383,550
Mike Buck 18/12/07 2.50 44,000 18/12/10 18/12/11
Mike Buck 28/3/08 2.795 165,295 28/3/11 28/3/12

Nick Cooper 13/12/06 2.67 93,633 13/12/09 13/12/10
Nick Cooper 5/10/07 2.395 104,384 5/10/10 5/10/11 198,017 291,935
Nick Cooper 28/3/08 2.795 93,918 28/3/11 28/3/12

Andrew Cochran 13/12/06 2.67 82,397 13/12/09 13/12/10
Andrew Cochran 5/10/07 2.395 91,858 5/10/10 5/10/11 174,255 256,903
Andrew Cochran 28/3/08 2.795 82,648 28/3/11 28/3/12
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Statements of directors’responsibilities

We have audited the Consolidated and Parent Company Financial Statements (the ‘Financial Statements’)
of Salamander Energy PLC for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the statement of accounting
policies and general information, the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company
Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and
Parent Company Cash Flow Statements and the respective related notes 1 to 28 and 1 to 10. These Financial
Statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements give a true and fair view and whether the
Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Consolidated Financial Statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the
Directors’ Report is consistent with the Financial Statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report
includes that specific information presented in the Financial Review and the Operational Review that is cross
referred from the Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report as described in the contents section and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited Financial Statements. We consider the implications for our
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Financial
Statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.

Independent auditors’ report to themembers of Salamander Energy PLC

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The Directors are
required by the IAS Regulation to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements under IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union and have also elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial statements are also required by law to be properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

IAS 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s financial position,
financial performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions,
other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation
and presentation of financial statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by
compliance with all applicable IFRSs. However, Directors are also required to:
• properly select and apply accounting policies;
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable

and understandable information; and
• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to

enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s
financial position and financial performance.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and Group and to enable them to ensure that the
Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ responsibility statement

We confirm to the best of our knowledge:

1 The financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

2 The business review, which is incorporated into the directors’ report, includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position of the company and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties they face.
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Independent auditors’ report to themembers of Salamander Energy PLC continued Financial statement of Salamander Energy PLCGroup

Statement of accounting policies and general information

General information on the Company and theGroup
Salamander Energy PLC (‘the Company’) is a company incorporated in England and Wales on 13 September 2006
under the Companies Act 1985, which serves as a holding company for the Group. The address of the registered
office is 5th Floor, 21 Palmer Street, London SW1H 0AD. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal
activities are as an independent oil and gas exploration, development and production company focused on
building a portfolio of assets in Southeast Asia.

Financial information
The financial information is presented in US Dollars. Foreign operations are included in accordance with policies
set out on page 65.

At the date of authorisation of this financial information, the following Standards and Interpretations which have
not been applied in this financial information were in issue but are not yet effective:

IFRS 1 (amended)/
IAS 27 (amended) Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate

IFRS 2 (amended) Share-based payment – vesting conditions and cancellations

IFRS 3 (revised 2008) Business combinations

IAS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing costs

IAS 27 (revised 2008) Consolidated and separate financial statements

IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

The Directors anticipate the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will not have a
material impact on the financial position of the Group. The impact of IFRS 8 – Operating Segments and IAS23
(revised 2007) – Borrowing Costs have not yet been assessed.

Accounting policies and presentation of financial information

a Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted for use
in the European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU, IAS Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the revaluation of
certain financial instruments.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as set out in the Directors’ Report on
page 31.

The separate financial statements of the Parent Company are presented as required by the Companies Act
1985. As permitted by the Act, the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies are
the same as those set out in the Accounting Policies in this section. As a consolidated income statement is
included, a separate income statement for the Parent Company has not been included in accordance with
section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985. The profit for the year for the Parent Company is disclosed in note 8
to the Company financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of
the Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Financial
Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:
• the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the

European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its loss for the year
then ended;

• the Parent Company Financial Statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state
of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008;

• the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Financial Statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

24 March 2009
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Interest revenue
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

g Derivative Financial instruments and Hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to movements in oil and gas prices.
The Group does not use derivatives for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value.

The purpose for which a derivative is used is established at inception. To qualify for hedge accounting, the
derivative must be highly effective in achieving its objective and this effectiveness must be documented at
inception and throughout the period of the instrument (designation).

Gains or losses on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment (either from inception
or during the life of the instrument) are taken directly to the Income Statement in the period. These include
economic hedges that might qualify as accounting hedges, but were not designated as such at inception.

The estimated fair value of these derivatives is included in other creditors or other debtors in the Balance Sheet
and the related changes in the fair value are included in finance costs in the Income Statement. Upfront contract
fees and realised gains and losses upon settlement are included within revenue in the Income Statement over
the hedged period.

During 2008 and 2007 there were no derivatives that were designated as hedges for accounting purposes.

h Cost of sales
Underlift and overlift
Lifting or offtake arrangements for oil and gas produced in certain of the Group’s jointly owned operations are such
that each participant may not receive and sell its precise share of the overall production in each period. The resulting
imbalance between cumulative entitlement and cumulative production is ‘underlift’ or ‘overlift’. Underlift and
overlift are valued at market value and included within debtors and creditors respectively. Movements during an
accounting period are adjusted through Cost of Sales such that Gross Profit is recognised on an entitlements basis.

i Share based payment
The Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 – Share based payment.

The Group makes equity settled Share Based Payment to certain employees. Equity settled share based
schemes are measured at fair value at the date of grant.

The fair value determined at the grant of the equity settled Share Based Payment is expensed on a straight
line basis over the vesting period, based on an estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The expenses so
recognised are simultaneously added back as an adjustment through equity.

j Operating leases
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.

k Foreign currencies
The US Dollar is the presentation currency of the Group. On consolidation, financial statements of foreign
currency denominated subsidiaries are translated into US Dollars whereby the results of the overseas
operations are translated at the average rate of exchange for the period and their balance sheets at rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Currency translation adjustments arising on the restatement of
opening net assets of foreign subsidiaries, together with differences between the subsidiaries’ results translated
at average rates versus closing rates, are taken directly to reserves. All resulting exchange differences are
classified as equity until disposal of the subsidiary. On disposal the cumulative amounts of the exchange
differences are recognised as income or expense.

b Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements consist of the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary
undertakings. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Revenues and the results of subsidiary undertakings are consolidated in the consolidated income statement
from the dates on which control over the operating and financial decisions is obtained. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the results of Subsidiary and Joint Venture Entities to bring the Accounting Policies
into line to those used by the group.

c Commercial reserves
Commercial reserves are proved and probable oil and gas reserves, which are defined as the estimated
quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, geophysical and engineering data
demonstrate with a specified degree of certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs and
which are considered commercially viable. There should be a 50% statistical probability that the actual quantity
of recoverable reserves will be more than the amount estimated as proven and probable reserves and a 50%
statistical probability that it will be less.

d Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity that is subject to joint control.

Where a Group Company undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s share
of jointly-controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognised in the financial
statements of the relevant company and classified according to their nature.

Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly-controlled assets are accounted for on
an accruals basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of jointly-controlled assets, and
its share of joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to/from the Group and their amount can be measured reliably.

Joint venture arrangements which involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer as an
interest are referred to as jointly-controlled entities. The Group reports its interest in jointly-controlled entities
using proportionate consolidation, that is, the Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of
jointly-controlled entities are combined with the equivalent items in consolidated financial statements on a
line-by-line basis.

Where the Group transacts with its jointly-controlled entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint venture.

e Acquisitions
On an acquisition that qualifies as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combination,
the assets and liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Any excess
of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill
which is treated as an intangible asset. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the
identifiable net assets acquired is credited to the Income Statement in the period of acquisition.

If the Group acquires a group of assets or equity in a company that does not constitute a business combination
in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combination, the cost of the acquired group of assets or equity is allocated
to the individual identifiable assets acquired based on their relative fair value.

f Revenue
Revenue represents the sales value, net of VAT and equivalent taxes, and overriding royalties, of the Group’s
share of liftings in the period together with tariff income.

Revenue received under take-or-pay sales contracts in respect of undelivered volumes is accounted for
as deferred income. Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Financial statement of Salamander Energy PLCGroup continued

44
Fi
na
nc
ia
ls
ta
te
m
en
ts

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8

45
Fi
na
nc
ia
ls
ta
te
m
en
ts

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8



Where there has been a change in economic conditions (including commodity assumptions and cost of
capital) that indicate a possible impairment of a field previously determined to be commercially viable, the
recoverability of the net book value relating to that field is assessed by comparison with the estimated
discounted future cash flows based on management’s expectations of future oil and gas prices and future costs.
Any impairment identified is charged to the Income Statement as additional depreciation, depletion and
amortisation. Where conditions giving rise to impairment subsequently reverse, the effect of the impairment
charge is also reversed as a credit to the income statement, net of any depreciation that would have been
charged since the impairment.

Provision for decommissioning is recognised in full when the related facilities are installed, where the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation to decommission. A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision
is also recognised as part of the cost of the related property, plant and equipment. The amount recognised
is the estimated cost of decommissioning, discounted to its net present value and is reassessed each year
in accordance with local conditions and requirements. Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning
or decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision,
and a corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment. The unwinding of the discount on the
decommissioning provision is included as Finance Costs.

Other fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas properties, is depreciated at rates calculated to write-off
the cost less estimated residual value of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful economic life
of between three and five years.

p Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and joint venture entities held by the Company as non-current assets are stated at
cost less any provision for impairment.

q Share issue expenses and share premium account
Costs of share issues are written off against the premium arising on the issue of share capital.

r Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

s Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Transactions in foreign currencies in individual subsidiaries are recorded at the rates of exchange ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into US Dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the balance sheet date, with a corresponding charge or credit to the Income Statement.

l Finance costs and debt
Finance costs of debt are allocated to periods over the term of the related debt at a constant rate on the
carrying amount. Debt is shown on the balance sheet net of arrangement fees and issue costs, and amortised
through to the income statement as finance costs over the term of the debt.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

m Tax
Current and deferred tax, including UK corporation tax and overseas corporation tax, are provided at amounts
expected to be paid using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
Balance Sheet date.

Deferred corporation tax is recognised on all temporary differences that have originated but not reversed at
the Balance Sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more, or right to pay less
tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is considered more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the underlying
temporary differences can be deducted. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on acquisitions that are categorised as business
combinations. Deferred tax is recognised at acquisition as part of the assessment of the fair value of assets and
liabilities acquired. Any deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement as the underlying
temporary difference is reversed.

n Exploration and evaluation assets
The Group adopts the ‘successful efforts’ method of accounting for exploration and evaluation costs.
All licence acquisition, exploration and evaluation costs are initially capitalised as intangible fixed assets in
cost centres by well, field or exploration area, as appropriate. Directly attributable administration costs are
capitalised insofar as they relate to specific exploration and development activities. Pre-licence costs are
expensed in the period they are incurred.

If prospects are deemed to be impaired (‘unsuccessful’) on completion of an evaluation, the associated
capitalised costs are charged to the Income Statement. If the field is determined to be commercially viable,
the attributable costs are transferred to Property, Plant and Equipment in a single field cost centre.

o Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation
and depreciation.

Oil andGas properties
Oil and gas properties expenditures carried within each field are amortised from the commencement of
production, on a unit of production basis, which is the ratio of oil and gas production in the period to the
estimated quantities of commercial reserves at the end of the period plus the production in the period, on a
field-by-field basis. Costs used in the unit of production calculation comprise the net book value of capitalised
costs plus the estimated future field development costs. The production and reserve estimates used in the
calculation are on an entitlements basis. Changes in the estimates of commercial reserves or future field
development costs are dealt with prospectively.

Financial statement of Salamander Energy PLCGroup continued
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

t Critical judgements and accounting estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies described above, management has made
judgements and estimates that may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

Management is required to assess the level of the Group’s commercial reserves together with the future
expenditures to access those reserves, which are utilised in determining the amortisation and depreciation
charge for the period and assessing whether any impairment charge is required. The Group employs
independent reserves specialists who periodically assess the Group’s level of commercial reserves by
reference to data sets including geological, geophysical and engineering data together with reports,
presentation and financial information pertaining to the contractual and fiscal terms applicable to the Group’s
assets. In addition the Group undertakes its own assessment of commercial reserves and related future
capital expenditure by reference to the same datasets using its own internal expertise.

Management is required to assess intangible fixed assets for impairment with reference to the indicators
provided in IFRS 6 – Exploration for Evaluation of Mineral Resources. Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements discloses the carrying value of such assets.

Management is required to determine the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired under a
business combination including the cost of the acquisition and allocate a fair value cost to the underlying
assets acquired.

Management is required to assess property plant and equipment for impairment by determining a pre-tax
value in use for each asset held and to compare that value to the book value of the asset being carried in the
balance sheet.

Management, in regard to the BNPP led reserves based lending facility, is required to estimate the amount of
borrowings that are classified as a due within one year and the amount that is classified as due after one year
as the calculations are based on uncertain future assumptions such as oil price and other economic factors.

Management has determined that for certain assets the Group does not need to make provisions for
decommissioning because: (i) the contracts covering the Group’s operations do not provide for the Group to
decommission its oil and gas properties; and (ii) the fields in question are expected to continue producing for
substantial periods after the contracts expire and therefore the costs will be incurred by other parties unless
the Group agrees to extend these contracts.

Management is required to make assumptions in respect of the inputs used to calculate the fair values of share
based payment arrangements. Details of these assumptions and the resultant charge to the income statement
are provided in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management is required to determine the fair value at the balance sheet of derivative contracts entered into.

Management is required to assess the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries in the parent company
balance sheet for impairment by reference to the recoverable amount. This requires an estimate of amounts
recoverable from oil and gas assets within the underlying subsidiaries, which is inherently uncertain.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for all debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (‘FVTPL’)
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where the Group acquires
the financial asset principally for the purpose of selling in the near term, the financial asset is a part of an
identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short term profit taking as well as all derivatives that are not designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
All impairment losses are taken to the Profit and Loss account.

Trade receivables are assessed for impairment based on the number of days outstanding on individual
invoices. Any trade receivable that is deemed uncollectible is immediately written off to the income
statement, any subsequent recoveries are also taken directly to the income statement upon receipt of
cash collected.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire; or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it
is designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Financial statement of Salamander Energy PLCGroup continued
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year-ended 31 December 2008

Consolidated income statement
For the year-ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
Note $’000s $’000s

Continuing operations
Revenue 2 100,753 69,561
Cost of sales
Impairment 12 (55,000) –
Other cost of sales (70,552) (47,847)
Total cost of sales 3 (125,552) (47,847)

Gross (loss)/profit (24,799) 21,714
Exploration expenses:
Exploration costs written off (39,065) –
Pre-licence exploration expenses (7,981) (5,924)
Profit on disposal of assets 807 –
Total exploration expenses (46,239) (5,924)
Administration Expenses1 (10,859) (4,594)

Operating (loss)/profit 6 (81,897) 11,196
Interest revenue 7 5,814 7,748
Finance costs 8 (2,953) (2,307)
Other financial Gains1 3,564 1,389

(Loss)/profit before tax (75,472) 18,026
Tax

Current tax 9 (14,651) (12,172)
Deferred tax:
– Impairment 27,500 –
– Other (3,872) (1,262)

Total Tax 8,977 (13,434)

(Loss)/profit for the year (66,495) 4,592
Note $’s $s

(Loss)/earnings per ordinary share
Basic 10 (0.53) 0.05
Diluted 10 (0.53) 0.05

1 Certain foreign exchange gains and losses, previously presented with administrative expenses, in 2007 have been reclassified as
other financial gains.

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Opening equity at 1 January 283,162 250,912
(Loss)/profit for the year (66,495) 4,592

Total recognised income and expense for the year (66,495) 4,592

Other transactionswith equity holders of the Company
New shares issued in business combination 184,236 –
New shares Issued for cash 192,019 26,951
Costs in respect of new shares Issued (12,852) –
Share based payment charge 2,033 707

Closing equity attributable to equity holders 582,103 283,162
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2008 2007
Note $’000s $’000s

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 214,814 54,523
Property, plant and equipment 12 552,138 119,891
Other receivables – restricted bank deposits 12,084 5,770
Deferred tax assets 15 387 200

Total non-current assets 779,423 180,384
Current assets
Assets held for sale 60 –
Inventories 16 7,894 4,890
Trade and other receivables 17 49,423 38,918
Cash and cash equivalents 18 103,012 116,881

Total current assets 160,389 160,689

Total assets 939,812 341,073

Liabilities
Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings 19 157,016 24,624
Provisions 20 4,713 –
Deferred tax liability 15 147,889 1,462

Total non-current liabilities 309,618 26,086
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 41,829 25,125
Borrowings due within one year 19 – 702
Current tax payable 6,262 5,998

Total current liabilities 48,091 31,825

Total liabilities 357,709 57,911

Net assets 582,103 283,162

Equity
Share capital 24 29,844 17,271
Share premium 24 378,685 202,345
Other reserves 24 244,519 67,996
Retained earnings 24 (70,945) (4,450)

Total equity 582,103 283,162

Approved by and authorised for issue, and signed on behalf of, the Board of Directors

Nick Cooper
Chief Financial Officer

24 March 2009

Consolidated balance sheet
31 December 2008

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Cash flow fromoperating activities
(Loss)/profit before tax (75,472) 18,026
Adjustments for:
Profit on disposal of assets (807) –
– Exploration write offs 39,065 –
– Amortisation and depreciation 83,104 15,504
– Interest revenue (5,814) (7,748)
– Finance costs 2,953 2,307
– Other financial gains (3,564) (1,389)
– Share based payment 939 101

Operating cash flowprior toworking capital 40,404 26,801
Increase in inventories (176) (3,563)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1,326 (7,450)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (128) 5,614

Cash generated fromoperations 41,426 21,402
Payment of tax (15,916) (7,019)

Net cash inflows fromoperating activities 25,510 14,383

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary (32,676) –
Expenditures on intangible assets (133,110) (38,231)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (113,315) (13,606)
Disposal of assets 1,500 –
Net payment of long-term loans (32,350) (17,500)
Repayment/(Payment) of other receivables 5,905 (5,770)
Interest received 3,545 7,390

Net cash used in investing activities (300,501) (67,717)

Cash flow from financing activities
Interest paid (5,848) (2,254)
Other financial payments (3,401) –
Cash flows in respect of long term borrowings 89,670 –
Net proceeds from the issue of shares 179,168 18,528

Net cash from financing activities 259,589 16,274

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (15,402) (37,060)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 116,881 152,552
Effect of foreign exchange rate change 1,533 1,389

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 103,012 116,881

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year-ended 31 December 2008
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1 Segmental analysis
2008

Thailand Indonesia Philippines Lao PDR Vietnam Other Total
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Revenue 40,452 60,301 – – – – 100,753

Operating loss (40,496) (887) (22,748) (72) (10) (17,684) (81,897)
Interest revenue – – – – – 5,814 5,814
Finance cost – – – – – (2,953) (2,953)
Other financial gains – – – – – 3,564 3,564

Loss before tax (40,496) (887) (22,748) (72) (10) (11,259) (75,472)
Tax – – – – – 8,977 8,977

Loss for the year (40,496) (887) (22,748) (72) (10) (2,282) (66,495)

Segment assets 357,913 464,345 6,042 10,802 22,879 77,830 939,812
Segment liabilities 17,200 28,778 265 755 2,522 308,189 357,709
Capital additions 336,813 331,846 18,869 8,584 19,535 (940) 714,707
Exploration costs written off – 16,403 22,662 – – – 39,065
Impairment 55,000 – – – – – 55,000
Amortisation and depreciation 10,489 17,236 – – – 379 28,104

2007

Thailand Indonesia Philippines Lao PDR Vietnam Other Total
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Revenue 18,660 50,901 – – – – 69,561

Operating profit/(loss) 11,107 10,117 (35) (65) (30) (9,898) 11,196
Interest revenue – – – – – 7,748 7,748
Finance cost – – – – – (2,307) (2,307)
Other financial gains – – – – – 1,389 1,389

Profit/(loss) before tax 11,107 10,117 (35) (65) (30) (3,068) 18,026
Tax – – – – – (13,434) (13,434)

Profit/(loss) for the year 11,107 10,117 (35) (65) (30) (16,502) 4,592

Segment assets 71,576 134,464 9,238 1,800 2,871 121,124 341,073
Segment liabilities 7,762 18,408 235 1 378 31,127 57,911
Capital additions 8,991 35,325 8,839 1,782 2,604 1,036 58,577
Amortisation and depreciation 1,833 13,405 – – 8 258 15,504

Geographical segments
The Group currently operates in five geographical areas, namely Thailand, Indonesia, Philippines, Lao PDR,
and Vietnam in addition to its corporate centre in the UK. This is the basis on which the Group records its primary
segment information. Other operating expenses, assets and liabilities relate to general management, finance
and administration and tax of the Group.

Business segments
The operations of the Group comprise one class of business, being oil and gas exploration, development
and production.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year-ended 31 December 2008

2 Revenue

Revenue, excluding interest revenue (see note 7), comprises:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Sales of oil 62,218 40,735
Sales of gas 38,535 28,980
Oil and gas derivatives:
Realised settlement losses – (154)

Total revenue (excluding interest revenue) 100,753 69,561

Total revenue in accordance with IAS 18 includes interest income and amounted to $106,567,000
(2007: $77,309,000).

3 Cost of sales

Cost of sales comprises:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Operating costs 37,179 28,291
Royalty payable 4,254 2,320
Amortisation of oil and gas properties 27,725 15,093
Impairment 55,000 –
(Underlift)/overlift (1,303) 2,143
Inventories of oil 2,697 –

Total cost of sales 125,552 47,847

Royalty of $3,113,000 (2007: $2,320,000) was payable in respect of certain of the Group’s Thailand assets and
in accordance with the applicable Thailand tax regulations, was deductible as an advance payment of income
tax to the extent income tax was payable (see note 9).

4 Employee numbers and costs

The monthly average number of employees (including Executive Directors) employed was as follows:
2008 2007

Number Number

Professional 44 26
Administration 17 8

Total employee numbers 61 34

The aggregate remuneration was as follows:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Wages and salaries 17,530 9,806
Share based payment 2,033 707
Pension 573 421
Social security 784 516

Total employee costs 20,920 11,450
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4 Employee numbers and costs continued

A proportion of total employee costs were directly attributable to capital and other projects and were
capitalised or expensed consistent with the project expenditures as follows:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Non-current assets 12,059 4,695
Operating costs 2,800 4,695
Administrative 6,061 2,060

Total employee costs 20,920 11,450

5 Operating lease arrangements
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

FPSO lease 3,810 –

Office lease 1,312 921

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
Recognised in income statement for the year 5,122 921

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2008 2007
FPSO Office FPSO Office
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Within one year 10,950 2,553 – 1,274
In second year 10,950 1,378 – 625
In the third to fifth year 29,040 723 – 646

Total outstanding operating lease commitments 50,940 4,654 – 2,445

6 Operating (loss)/profit

Operating (loss)/profit is stated after charging:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Employee costs expensed 8,861 6,165
Amortisation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment 83,104 15,504
Auditors’ remuneration (see below)

Audit services 388 367
Non-audit services 4,316 998

Net foreign exchange gains (1,533) (1,389)
Operating lease arrangements (see note 5)

FPSO lease 3,810 –
Office lease 1,312 921

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

6 Operating (loss)/profit continued

Auditors’ remuneration
The following is an analysis of gross fees paid to the Company’s Auditors, Deloitte LLP:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s
annual accounts 256 266
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 132 101

Total audit fees 388 367

Non-audit services
Other services provided pursuant to legislation 87 96
Corporate finance services (reporting accountant services) 3,898 597
Tax services 311 274
Other services 20 31

Total non-audit services 4,316 998

Fees payable to Deloitte LLP and their associates for non-audit services to the Company are not required
to be disclosed because the consolidated financial statements are required to disclose such fees on a
consolidated basis.

7 Interest revenue
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Loans:
Amortisation of deferred fees 2,456 194
Loan interest revenue 746 29

3,202 223
Other bank interest revenue 2,612 7,525

Total interest revenue 5,814 7,748

8 Finance costs
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Long termborrowings:
Amortisation of capitalised arrangement fees 2,448 205
Interest expense 5,846 2,031
Unwinding of discount 114 –
Less interest capitalised (5,457) –

Total finance costs on long termborrowings 2,951 2,236
Other bank interest expense 2 71

Total finance costs 2,953 2,307
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9 Tax

The tax credit for the year of $8,977,000 (2007 tax charge: $13,434,000) comprised corporate income tax
of $14,651,000 (2007: $12,172,000) and net deferred tax credit of $23,628,000 (2007 net deferred tax charge:
$1,262,000) arising on the Group’s Thailand and Indonesia activities which includes a deferred tax credit
of $27,500,000 arising as a direct consequence of the $55,000,000 impairment charge against the Thailand
Bualuang asset.

Reconciliation of tax to (loss)/profit
The tax (credit)/charge for the year can be reconciled to (loss)/profit before tax per the income statement
as follows:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

(Loss)/profit before tax (75,472) 18,026
Applicable rate of tax 28.5% 30.0%

Tax at the applicable rate of tax (21,509) 5,408
Tax effect of:

Items which are not deductible for tax 18,783 4,927
UK losses not recognised 306 336
Foreign losses not recognised 276 48
Royalty tax credit (1,774) (1,392)
Different foreign tax rates (5,059) 4,107

Total income tax (credit)/charge (8,977) 13,434

The average applicable rate tax is assumed as 28.5% being an average of the UK corporation tax rate of 30%
for the period to 31 March 2008 and 28% for period since 1 April 2008.

Items not deductible for tax primarily relates to depreciation and exploration write offs in respect of the Group’s
assets in Thailand, Indonesia and the Philippines.

10 (Loss)/earnings per ordinary share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share being
the net (Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (66,495) 4,592
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares – –

(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share (66,495) 4,592
2008 2007

Shares Shares
$’000s $’000s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 126,268 88,543
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: PSP1 – 920

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share 126,268 89,463

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

10 (Loss)/earnings per ordinary share continued

2008 2007
$’s $’s

Earnings per ordinary share
Basic (0.53) 0.05

Diluted (0.53) 0.05

1 As there is a loss for the year ended 31 December 2008, there is no difference between the basic and diluted earnings per share.
Potentially dilutive ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2008 were 2,489,785 (2007:1,709,026).

11 Intangible assets
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Exploration and evaluation
At 1 January 54,523 9,121
Additions 206,770 45,402
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (7,414) –
Costs written off (39,065) –

At 31December 214,814 54,523

12 Property, plant and equipment
2008 2007

Oil and gas Other fixed Oil and gas Other fixed
properties assets Total properties assets Total

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Cost
At 1 January 141,725 1,756 143,481 129,809 497 130,306
Additions 507,830 107 507,937 11,916 1,259 13,175
Transfers from
Intangible Assets 7,414 – 7,414 – – –

At 31December 656,969 1,863 658,832 141,725 1,756 143,481
Amortisation and
Depreciation
At 1 January 22,998 592 23,590 7,906 180 8,086
Charge for the Year 82,725 379 83,104 15,092 412 15,504

At 31December 105,723 971 106,694 22,998 592 23,590

Net BookAmount at
31December 551,246 892 552,138 118,727 1,164 119,891

Additions to oil and gas properties include capitalised interest of $5,457,000 (2007: nil) charged at an
average rate of 4.7%. Included in the net book amount at 31 December 2008 in oil and gas properties are
assets amounting to $543,832,000 pledged against the Group’s BNP Paribas led seven years reserve-based
lending facility.

Oil and gas properties include an impairment of $55,000,000 against the Group’s oil producing asset,
Bualuang in Thailand. The maximum carrying value of the assets is reliant on external assumptions including
oil price expectations and discount rate and it is changes in these assumptions in light of the current economic
climate that has led to the impairment charge. The impairment provision was calculated based on the assets
value in use. The discount rate used in the value in use calculation has been based on the Group’s weighted
average cost of capital, taking into account the risks specific to the assets for which the future cash flows have
already been adjusted.
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13 Capital commitments

The Group’s outstanding financial capital commitments represent the minimum agreed amounts the Group
will expend completing its obligated work programmes of carrying out geophysical and geological studies,
and to drill exploration and appraisal wells. At 31 December 2008, the Group’s anticipates it will discharge its
minimum financial capital commitments as follows:

2009 2010 2011
$’000s $’000s $’000s

Future capital commitments 32,000 30,000 57,000

14 Group companies

The principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities of the Group, the activity of which relates to oil and
gas exploration, development and production, at the Balance Sheet date were as follows:

Subsidiaries
Country of Country of Percentage

Company operation incorporation holding

Salamander Energy Group Ltd1 United Kingdom, United Kingdom 100.00%
Thailand and Vietnam

Salamander Energy (E&P) Ltd United Kingdom and Thailand United Kingdom 100.00%

PHT Partners LP United States of America United States of America 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Holdco) Ltd United Kingdom United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore 100.00%

Salamander Energy (S.E. Asia) Ltd United Kingdom United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Bontang) Company Pte Ltd Indonesia Singapore 100.00%

Orchard Energy Holding Java & Sumatra BV The Netherlands The Netherlands 100.00%

Orchard Energy Java BV Indonesia The Netherlands 100.00%

Orchard Energy Sumatra BV Indonesia The Netherlands 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Philippines) Ltd The Philippines United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Indonesia) Limited Indonesia United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Vietnam) Ltd Vietnam United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Simenggaris) Ltd Indonesia United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Bengara) Ltd Indonesia United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Lao) Company Ltd Lao PDR Lao PDR 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Canada) Ltd Canada Canada 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Canada) Holdings Corporation Canada Canada 100.00%

Salamander Energy Oil & Gas Inc Canada Canada 100.00%

Salamander Energy Oil & Gas USA Inc United States of America United States of America 100.00%

Salamander Energy Oil & Gas Crystal Inc United States of America United States of America 100.00%

Salamander International Holdings Ltd British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Asahan) Ltd Indonesia British Virgin Islands 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Seruway) Ltd Indonesia British Virgin Islands 100.00%

Salamander Bualuang & Kambuna Holdings Ltd British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Bualuang) Ltd British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Glagah Kambuna) Ltd Indonesia British Virgin Islands 100.00%

Salamander Energy (Kutai) Ltd Indonesia United Kingdom 100.00%

Salamander Energy (SE Sangatta) Ltd Indonesia United Kingdom 100.00%

Asia Petroleum Development (Glagah Kambuna) Ltd Indonesia British Virgin Islands 100.00%

1 Salamander Energy Group Limited is the only direct subsidiary of the Company.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

14 Group companies continued

Jointly controlled entities
Company Country of operation Country of incorporation Percentage holding

APICO LLC Thailand United States of America 27.18%
APICO (Khorat) Holdings LLC Thailand United States of America 27.18%
APICO (Khorat) Limited Thailand Thailand 27.18%

The following amounts are included in the financial statements relating to proportionately consolidated jointly
controlled entities of the group:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Total revenue 24,905 18,700
Total expenses 14,084 11,267
Non-current assets 60,956 20,881
Current assets 5,842 10,286
Non-current liabilities 1,463 318
Current liabilities 7,956 7,760

15 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilities were:
Accelerated tax amortisation

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

At 1 January 1,262 –
Acquisition of Subsidiaries 169,868 –
Charged to Income Statement (23,628) 1,262

At 31December 147,502 1,262

Deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet were as follows:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Deferred tax assets 387 200
Deferred tax liabilities (147,889) (1,462)

Net deferred tax liabilities (147,502) (1,262)

At 31 December 2008, the Group had not recognised a potential deferred tax asset of $2,085,000
(2007: $1,400,000) relating to tax losses as there was insufficient evidence of future taxable profits in the
relevant jurisdictions. These losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

There are no significant unrecognised temporary differences associated with undistributed profits of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

16 Inventories
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Oil 2,697 –
Materials 5,197 4,890

Total inventories 7,894 4,890
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17 Trade and other receivables
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Prepayments 3,323 3,919
Trade debtors 10,614 11,116
Underlift 1,416 557
Other debtors 28,362 7,962
Finance receivables 5,708 –
Loans due in less than one year – 15,364

Total trade and other receivables 49,423 38,918

At the reporting date the Group had no past due or impaired trade and other receivables. The Directors
consider the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

18 Cash and cash equivalents
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Amounts held directly by the Group 100,835 113,129
Amounts held in joint ventures 2,177 3,752

Total cash and cash equivalents 103,012 116,881

Of the amounts held directly by the Group, $29,706,000 (2007: $15,027,000) was held in debt service accounts
and subject to restrictions in accordance with the Group’s debt facility.

Financial institutions, and their credit ratings, whom held greater than 5% of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents at the balance sheet date were as follow:

S&P credit 2008 2007
rating $’000s $’000s

HSBC Bank plc AA 51,912 37,577
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd AA 10,575 5,710
BNP Paribas AA 27,742 –
JP Morgan Chase AA – 10,132 –
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe Limited A – 39,306
Anglo Irish Bank A – – 30,513

19 Borrowings
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Principal repayable onmaturity 160,918 25,702
Less deferred fees (3,902) (376)

Total unamortised borrowings 157,016 25,326
Less amounts due within one year – (702)

Total long termborrowings 157,016 24,624

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

19 Borrowings continued

Net debt
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Long termborrowings 157,016 24,624
Add amounts due within one year – 702
Less cash and cash equivalents (103,012) (116,881)

Total net debt/(cash) 54,004 (91,555)

At the balance sheet date, the principal repayable on maturity is calculated to be repayable as follows:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

On demand or due within one year – 702
In the second year 2,563 7,377
In the third to fifth year inclusive 86,419 14,001
After five years 71,936 3,622

Total principal payable onmaturity 160,918 25,702

Borrowings at the balance sheet date are a BNPP led seven year borrowing base facility. The loan is secured
against certain of the Group’s Thailand and Indonesia development and producing assets and includes certain
covenants relating to the ratio of the loan balance outstanding to the net present value of cash flows of the
secured assets. The key terms of the facility are:
• An initial facility amount of $200 million.
• The Group may draw an amount up to the lower of the facility amount or the borrowing base amount as

determined by the cash flows arising from the borrowing base assets.
• Interest accrues at a rate of between 2.20% and 2.45% plus LIBOR depending on the maturity of the assets.

The borrowing base amount is redetermined on an annual basis, with the Group further having the option to
undertake two mid-period redeterminations in each year should it elect to do so.

• Annual redeterminations of debt capacity.
• No early repayment penalties.
• Change of control provisions.

At 31 December 2008, $15,561,000 against the facility was available but undrawn.

20 Provisions

Provisions for decommissioning and restoration of oil and gas assets are:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

At 1 January – –
On acquisition of subsidiary (see note 27) 2,726 –
Additions 1,873
Unwinding of discount 114 –

At 31December 4,713 –
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21 Trade and other payables
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Trade creditors 733 926
Overlift – 2,700
Other creditors 23,969 13,185
Accrued expenses 17,127 8,314

Total trade and other payables 41,829 25,125

The Directors consider the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

22 Financial instruments

Capital riskmanagement
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group are able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital
structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 19, cash and cash
equivalents as disclosed in note 18, and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in note 24.

Gearing ratio
Management reviews the capital structure on a continuing basis. The gearing ratio at the year-end was
as follows:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Debt 157,016 25,326
Equity plus debt 739,119 308,488

Gearing ratio 21% 8%

The gearing ratio is defined as debt divided by equity plus debt.

Significant accounting policies
Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis
of measurement and the basis on which the income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in the statement of accounting policies.

Categories of financial instruments
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Financial assets:
Assets held for sale 60 –
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 139,465 155,293
Mark to market value of derivatives 5,708 –
Financial liabilities:
Amortised cost 184,414 47,030

Financial assets and liabilities exclude tax receivables and payables, as they and payables, as they do not
constitute a contractual right or obligation to receive or pay cash or another financial asset.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

22 Financial instruments continued

Financial riskmanagement
The Group’s Board of Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of the
Group through an internal risk register. These include commodity, foreign exchange, credit, liquidity and
interest rate risks.

Commodity Price Risk
The Group’s policy is to consider oil and gas price hedging when and where it is economically attractive
to lock-in prices at levels that protect the cash flow of the Salamander Group, its business plan and debt related
coverage ratios. All hedging transactions to date have been related directly to expected cash flows and no
speculative transactions have been undertaken.

For 2008, the Group’s oil production was all sold at prices relative to the spot market. The Group did enter
into derivatives oil hedges in December 2008, covering the financial year 2009, purchasing put options for
2,500 bpd and 4,000 bpd for the first half 2009 and second half 2009 respectively with a strike price of
$45.00/bbl. The Group traded out of these hedges in January 2009, the detail of which is set out in note 28 to
the financial statements.

During 2008, 62% of the Group’s gas production (its Indonesian gas production) was sold at fixed prices with
the balance (its Thai gas production) sold at prices relative to the spot market. The Group held no hedges with
respect to its gas production during 2008.

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence, exposures to exchange
rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed through maintaining the majority of the Group’s
cash and cash equivalent balances in US Dollars, the Group’s functional and presentational currency. The Group
does also holds, from time to time, cash balances in UK Pounds Sterling and other currencies to meet short-term
commitments in those currencies. Exchange rate fluctuations are continually monitored and currency traded
into US Dollars as required.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2008 2007 2008 2007
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

UK Pounds Sterling 5,878 16,594 1,732 2,535
Singapore Dollar 483 593 1,095 133
Indonesian Rupiah 7,769 1,842 1,095 755
Thailand Baht 9,511 – 5,128 –
Vietnamese Dong 355 – 405 –
Other 15 – 2 –
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22 Financial instruments continued

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 20% increase or decrease in the US Dollar against the
relevant foreign currency. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 20% change in the foreign currency rate. A positive number
below indicates an increase in profit after tax where the US Dollar strengthens by 20% against the relevant
currency. For a 20% weakening of the US Dollar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit after tax and the balances below would be negative.

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Change in profit or loss UK
Pounds Sterling 829 2,812
Singapore Dollar 122 92
Indonesian Rupiah 1,335 218
Thailand Baht 877 –
Vietnamese Dong 10 –

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter-party will default on its obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group is exposed to the following credit and counter party risks:

1 In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s principal financial asset, the credit risk is deemed limited
because the majority of the cash and cash equivalents are deposited with banks with AA or A credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

2 In respect of the Group’s trade sales, the Group manages credit risk through dealing with, whenever possible,
either international energy companies or state owned companies based in Thailand and Indonesia and
obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate. The Group consistently monitors counterparty credit risk.

The carrying value of financial assets recorded in the financial statements represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk at the year-end without taking account of any collateral obtained.

In addition, the Group’s operations are typically structured via joint ventures. As such the Group is reliant on
joint venture partners to fund their capital or other funding obligations in relation to the assets and operations.
The Group closely monitors the risks and maintains a close dialogue with those counterparties considered to
be highest risk in this regard.

Liquidity risk
The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents, and borrowing
facilities to meet its forecast short, medium and long-term commitments. The Group continually monitors its
actual and forecast cash flows to ensure that there are adequate reserves and banking facilities to meet the
maturing profiles of its financial assets and liabilities.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

22 Financial instruments continued

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date the Group was required to pay at the balance sheet date. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.

2008

Weighted
average
effective Less than 1 – 3 3months 1 – 5

interest rate 1month months to 1 year years 5+ years Total
% $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Non-interestbearing n/a 24,702 17,127 – – – 41,829
Variable interest rate instruments 5.8 681 1,362 6,674 112,813 73,600 195,130

Total 25,383 18,489 6,674 112,813 73,600 236,959
2007

Weighted
average
effective Less than 1 – 3 3 months

interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 1 – 5 years 5+ years Total
% $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Non-interest bearing n/a 13,390 8,314 – – – 21,704
Variable interest rate instruments 7.4 – – 2,732 28,725 – 31,457

Total 13,390 8,314 2,732 28,725 – 53,161

Additionally, note 13 to the financial statements set-outs the Group’s outstanding commitments at the
balance sheet date.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate movements through its lendings, borrowings and cash and cash
equivalent deposits, which are at rates fixed to LIBOR. The Group does not presently hedge against interest
rate movements.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the Group’s exposure to an interest rate
movement and is prepared assuming the amount of the net assets outstanding at the balance sheet date was
outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
after tax for the year ended 31 December 2008 would have decreased or increased as applicable by $0.4 million
(2007: increase or decrease $1.1 million). This is principally attributable to the Group maintaining a net cash
and cash equivalents position as described in note 18.

23 Related party transactions

Transactionswith keymanagement personnel
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel are provided

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Short term employee benefits 7,181 5,677
Share based payment 1,581 578

Total keymanagement employee costs 8,762 6,255
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24 Share capital, share premium and reserves

Share capital as at 31 December 2008 amounted to $29.8 million. During the period, the Group issued
30,843,367 ordinary shares at $5.97 (£2.99) per share as part of the consideration paid for the acquisition
of GFI in March 2008, and 33,333,334 ordinary shares at $5.76 (£3.00) per share as a placing and open
offer in August 2008, which increased the number of shares in issue from 88,604,554 to 152,781,255.

Authorised equity share capital
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Ordinary shares at £0.10 each 205,000,000 150,000,000

Allotted equity share capital
2008 2007

Ordinary shares 10p Ordinary shares 10p
Number Number

At 1 January 88,604,554 82,947,277
4 January 2007: Allotment of shares – 5,657,277
17 March 2008: Allotment of shares 30,843,367 –
8 August 2008: Allotment of shares 33,333,334 –

At 31December 152,781,255 88,604,554

Movement on equity
2008

Share capital Share premium Other reserves Profit and loss Total
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

At 1 January 2008 17,271 202,345 67,996 (4,450) 283,162
Shares issued

Ordinary shares Issued in
business combination 6,172 – 178,064 – 184,236
Ordinary shares issued for cash 6,401 185,618 – – 192,019
Share issue costs – (9,278) (3,574) – (12,852)

Share based payments – – 2,033 – 2,033
Loss for the year – – – (66,495) (66,495)

At 31December 2008 29,844 378,685 244,519 (70,945) 582,103
2007

Share capital Share premium Other reserves Profit and loss Total
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

At 1 January 2007 16,171 176,494 67,289 (9,042) 250,912
Shares issued
Ordinary shares issued for cash 1,100 27,500 – – 28,600
Share issue costs – (1,649) – – (1,649)
Share based payments – – 707 – 707
Profit for the year – – – 4,592 4,592

At 31December 2007 17,271 202,345 67,996 (4,450) 283,162

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

24 Share capital, share premium and reserves continued

Other reserves
Other reserves comprise:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Share based payment reserve 2,788 755
Merger reserve 241,731 67,241

Total other reserves 244,519 67,996

25 Share option schemes and share based payment

The Company has implemented an equity-settled share option scheme (PSP) for employees called the
Salamander Energy Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’). Further details of the PSP are set out in the Remuneration
Report on pages 40 to 41. Awards under the PSP may be satisfied by the issue of new shares, or the transfer of
shares from the Company’s treasury or shares purchased in the market. In any ten year period, the Company
may not issue (or have the possibility to issue) more than ten per cent of the issued capital of the Company
pursuant to awards granted under the PSP and any other rights granted under any other employee share plan
adopted by the Company. Shares held in treasury will count as new issue shares for the purposes of the above
limits unless institutional bodies decide that they need not count. Shares purchased in the market will not,
however, count towards the limit described above.

Movement in PSP Shares during the year was as follows:
2008 2007

Shares Weighted Shares Weighted
under option average price Under option Average price

Number £’s Number £’s

Outstanding at 1 January 1,709,026 0.10 702,980 0.10
Granted during the year 890,635 0.10 1,032,731 0.10
Exercised during the year – – – –
Forfeited during the year (109,876) – (26,685) –

Outstanding at 31 December 2,489,785 0.10 1,709,026 0.10

Exercisable at 31 December – – – –

The expense recognised for unvested employee share options of $2,031,000 relates wholly to equity-settled
share based payment arising from grants made under the PSP. At 31 December 2008, the total future expense
relating to unvested awards not yet recognised was $3,752,000, which is expected to be recognised over
the following 3 years. The weighted average exercise price for options that were forfeited during the year
was £0.10.

68
Fi
na
nc
ia
ls
ta
te
m
en
ts

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8

69
Fi
na
nc
ia
ls
ta
te
m
en
ts

Sa
la

m
an

d
er

En
er

g
y

PL
C

A
nn

ua
lR

ep
or

t2
00

8



25 Share option schemes and share based payment continued

The weighted average fair value of share options granted during the year, as estimated at the date of grant,
was £1.84 per share (2007: £1.53). This was calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation model based on the
following assumptions:

2008 2007

Weighted average share price at date of grant £2.80 £2.42
Exercise price £0.10 £0.10
Expected volatility 32% 45%
Expected life 3 Years 3 Years
Expected dividend 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.25% 4.9%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the comparator group’s share
price, over a period equal to the expected life of the options. The median of the constituents of the comparator
group which had a three year history was used to determine the estimate for the Company volatility. The mean
average of all the constituents of the comparator group (including those with only a short listing history) was
57% (2007: 56%). The average comparator group correlation was 9% (2007: 7%).

There is a 12 month window for exercise. However, as the exercise price is nominal it is assumed that recipients
exercise at the end of the performance period. Therefore an expected life of three years after the date of grant
has been assumed.

26 Dividends

The company has declared no dividend for the year (2007: nil).

27 Acquisition of subsidiary

On 17 March 2008, the Group acquired the outstanding issued share capital of GFI for a cash consideration
of $34,831,000 and the issue of 30,843,367 Company shares with a fair value of $184,236,000, based on
the share price at closing on the date of the acquisition. GFI was the parent company of a group of companies
involved in oil and gas exploration and development. The acquisition of GFI provided operated and
non-operated development activity and added to the Group’s exploration opportunities in Thailand and
Indonesia. This transaction has been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting. The purchase
consideration equals the aggregate of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of GFI and
therefore no goodwill has been recorded on the acquisition. Deferred tax has been recognised on the fair
value adjustments as applicable.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

27 Acquisition of subsidiary continued

Book value Fair value
$’000s $’000s

Net assets acquired
Exploration and evaluation assets 8,995 77,113
Property, plant and equipment 98,657 378,760
Other receivables 12,219 12,219
Inventories 2,828 2,828
Trade and other receivables 30,740 30,740
Cash and cash equivalents 8,372 8,372
Trade and other payables (21,444) (21,444)
Borrowings (90,100) (90,100)
Deferred tax liabilities – (170,479)
Decommissioning provision (2,344) (2,726)

47,925 225,283

Satisfied by:
Shares issued 184,236
Cash 34,831
Directly attributable costs 6,217

225,283
$’000s

Net cash out flows arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 34,831
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (8,372)
Directly attributable costs 6,217

32,676

The GFI assets contributed $807,000 interest revenue and made a loss before tax of $77,095,000 for the period
between the date of acquisition and 31 December 2008.

If the acquisition of GFI had been completed on the first day of the current period, Group revenues for the
period would not have been materially changed as GFI had no production in the period. It is not practicable or
meaningful to determine the equivalent effect on Group’s profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
because of the effect of accounting policy differences, fair value adjustments and GFI’s transaction expenses.

28 Post balance sheet events

Oil derivatives
On 16 January 2009, the Group sold its $45.00/bbl put options of 1,500 bpd for the period February to
June 2009 and 4,000 bpd for the period July to December 2009. In turn, the Group purchased a forward sale
(swap) of 2,500 bpd at an average of $53.83/bbl for period February to December 2009 and puts options at
$54.00/bbl for 1,500 bpd for the period July to December 2009. Additionally, the Group realised $0.8 million
from the transactions.

Reserves based lending facility
In January 2009, the Group drew down a further $15.6 million against its BNPP led reserves based lending
facility, taking total borrowings to $176.5 million.

Block 31, Vietnam
On 10 March 2009, the Group signed a PSC for Block 31, offshore southern Vietnam as operator of the PSC
with a 60% working interest.
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2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Opening equity at 1 January 425,677 389,063
(Loss)/profit for the year (148,800) 8,956

Total recognised income and expense for the year (148,800) 8,956

Other transactionswith equity holders of the company
New shares issued in exchange for shares of a subsidiary company 184,236 –
New shares issued for cash 192,019 26,951
Costs in respect of the issues of new shares (12,852) –
Share based payment charge 2,033 707

Closing equity attributable to equity holders of the company 642,313 425,677

Parent company balance sheet
31 December 2008

Parent company statement of changes in equity
For the year-ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
Notes $’000s $’000s

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments 3 112,288 262,288
Loans to group companies 7 613,235 74,338
Other receivables 1,650 –

Total non-current assets 727,173 336,626

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 4 450 151
Cash and cash equivalents 49,759 89,317

Total current assets 50,209 89,468

Total assets 777,382 426,094

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 5 135,069 417

Total current liabilities 135,069 417

Total liabilities 135,069 417

Net assets 642,313 425,677

Equity
Share capital 9 29,844 17,271
Share premium 9 378,685 202,345
Other reserves 9 376,849 200,326
Retained (loss)/earnings 9 (143,065) 5,735

Total equity 642,313 425,677

Approved by and authorised for issue, and signed on behalf of, the Board of Directors

Nick Cooper
Chief Financial Officer

24 March 2009
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Notes to the parent company financial statements
For the year ended December 2008

1 Segmental analysis

Geographical segments
The Company currently operates in one geographical area, namely the United Kingdom.

Business segments
The Company’s activities comprise one class of business, being that of a holding company for the Group.

2 Employee numbers and costs

The monthly average number of employees (being the Executive Directors) employed was as follows:
2008 2007

Number Number

Professional 4 4
Administration – –

Total employee numbers 4 4

The aggregate remuneration was as follows:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Wages and salaries 2,675 2,530
Share based payment 300 370
Pensions 222 297
Social security 336 296

Total employee costs 3,533 3,493

Details of Directors’ remuneration are provided in the Remunerations report on page 43. A proportion of
employee costs were charged to other subsidiaries of the Group.

Share based payment
Share based payment are disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

3 Investments

The Group’s principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are as set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fair value information regarding investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities has not been
disclosed as their fair value cannot be measured reliably, as they are investments in unquoted group companies.
A provision of $150,000,000 has been raised against the Company’s investment in Salamander Energy Group
Limited reflecting recent changes in economic conditions.

4 Trade and other receivables
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Prepayments 59 48
Other debtors 391 103

Total trade and other receivables 450 151

At the reporting date the group had no past due or impaired trade and other receivables. The Directors consider
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Cash flow fromoperating activities
(Loss)/profit before tax (148,800) 8,956
Adjustments for:

Provision against investment 150,000 –
Interest revenue (5,758) (11,858)
Finance costs 3,037 –
Other financial gains (2,516) (1,389)
Share based payment 300 96

Operating cash flowprior toworking capital (3,737) (4,195)
Increase in trade and other receivables (299) 1,444
Decrease in trade and other payables (308) (1,179)

Net cash outflows fromoperating activities (4,344) (3,930)

Cash flow from investing activities
Loans to group companies (348,520) (69,935)
Payment of long-term other receivables (1,650) –
Interest received 1,349 6,991

Net cash provided by investing activities (348,821) (62,944)

Cash flow from financing activities
Borrowings from group companies 134,960 –
Net proceeds from the issue of shares 179,168 18,528
Cost of borrowings (3,037) –

Net cash from financing activities 311,091 18,528

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (42,074) (48,346)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 89,317 136,274
Effect of foreign exchange rate change 2,516 1,389

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 49,759 89,317

Parent company cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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7 Financial instruments continued

Interest rate risk
If interest rates had been 1% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s profit
for the year ended 31 December 2008 would have increased or decreased as applicable by $0.5 million
(2007: increase or decrease of $0.9 million).

Liquidity risk
The following tables detail the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

2008 2007

Less than 1month 1 – 3months Total Less than 1 month 1 – 3 months Total
£’000s $’000s $’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s

Non-interest bearing – 109 109 367 50 417

Total – 109 109 367 50 417

8 Related party transactions

Transactionwith directors
Transactions with Directors are included in the Remuneration Report on pages 39 to 44.

Related party transactionswith subsidiary companies
The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties during the year affecting the income
statement as follows:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Interest receivable from Salamander Energy Group Limited (4,409) (4,710)

The Company held balances with related parties at the balance sheet date as follows:
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Investment in Salamander Energy Group Limited 112,288 262,288
Preference coupon receivable from Salamander Energy Group Limited 9,119 4,710
Loans to Salamander Energy Group Limited 602,804 69,471
Loans to Salamander Energy (Bualuang) Limited 877 –
Loans to Salamander Energy (Glagah Kambuna) Limited 435 –
Borrowings from Salamander Energy (SE Asia) Limited (134,960) –

Notes to the parent company financial statements continued

5 Trade and other payables
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Other creditors – 367
Accrued expenses 109 50
Group companies 134,960

Total trade and other payables 135,069 417

The Directors consider the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates their fair value.

6 Commitments and Contingencies

Salamander Energy PLC has entered into certain parent guarantee and other undertakings in relation to the
BNPP Borrowing Base Facility Agreement.

7 Financial instruments

Full details of the Company’s risk management and financial instrument policies are shown in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant accounting policies
The Company follows the accounting policies as shown in statement of accounting policies.

Categories of financial instruments
2008 2007

$’000s $’000s

Financial assets:
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 664,679 163,695
Financial liabilities:
Amortised cost 135,069 417

Financial riskmanagement

Foreign exchange risk
The carrying amounts of the Company’s UK Pounds Sterling monetary assets and liabilities at the balance sheet
date were as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2008 2007 2008 2007
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

UK Pounds Sterling 4,036 13,367 17 267

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 20% change in US Dollars against
UK Pounds Sterling.

UKPounds Sterling
Currency Impacts

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Profit or loss 804 2,620

This is mainly due from holding UK Sterling Pound cash and cash equivalent deposits. The sensitivity to
exchange rate movements has decreased during the year as the Company reduced its UK Sterling Pound
cash and cash equivalent balances.
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9 Share capital, share premium and reserves

Authorised equity share capital
2008 2007

Number Number

Ordinary shares at £0.10 each 205,000,000 150,000,000

Allotted equity share capital
2008 2007

Ordinary shares 10p Ordinary shares 10p
Number Number

At 1 January 88,604,554 82,947,277
4 January 2007: Allotment of shares – 5,657,277
17 March 2008: Allotment of shares 30,843,367 –
8 August 2008: Allotment of shares 33,333,334 –

At 31December 152,781,255 88,604,554

Movement on equity
2008

Share capital Share premium Other reserves Profit and loss Total
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

At 1 January 2008 17,271 202,345 200,326 5,735 425,677
Shares issued

New shares issued in exchange for
Shares of a subsidiary company 6,172 – 178,064 – 184,236
New shares issued for cash 6,401 185,618 – – 192,019
Share issue costs – (9,278) (3,574) – (12,852)

Share based payment – – 2,033 – 2,033
Loss for the year – – – (148,800) (148,800)

At 31December 2008 29,844 378,685 376,849 (143,065) 642,313
2007

Share capital Share premium Other reserves Profit and Loss Total
$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

At 1 January 2007 16,171 176,494 199,619 (3,221) 389,063
Ordinary shares Issued for cash 1,100 25,851 – – 26,951
Share based payment – – 707 – 707
profit for the year – – – 8,956 8,956

At 31December 2007 17,271 202,345 200,326 5,735 425,677

The figures above for shares issued are shown net of directly related expenses of $12,852,000
(2007: $847,000), which are recorded against share premium.

Other reserves
Other reserves includes:

2008 2007
$’000s $’000s

Share based payment reserve 2,788 755
Merger reserve 374,061 199,571

Total other reserves 376,849 200,326

10 Dividends

The company has declared no dividend for the year (2007: nil).
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Glossary

2006 ESOP 2006 Employee Share Ownership Plan

$ or US Dollar United States Dollar

£ UK Pounds Sterling

€ Euro

Bbl Barrel

BCF Billion of standard cubic feet

BNPP BNP Paribas, Singapore

boepd Barrels of oil equivalent per day

boe Barrels of oil equivalent

bopd Barrels of oil per day

E&P Exploration and production

EBITDAX Earnings before interest (finance costs), tax, DD&A and exploration expenses

FPSO Floating Production Storage Offload

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GFI GFI Oil & Gas Corporation

HSE Health, Safety and Environmental

IAS International Accounting Standards

IPO Initial Public Offering

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Jug hustler Member of a seismic crew who lays cables and plants geo-phones

km2 sqkm

LSE London Stock Exchange

Mbo Thousand barrels of oil

Mbopd Thousand barrels of oil per day

Mboepd Thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day

MMbo Million barrels of oil

MMboe Millions barrels of oil equivalent

Mscf Thousand standard cubic feet of gas

MMscfd Million standard cubic feet per day of gas

ONWJ Offshore North West Java PSC

PSC Production Sharing Contract

PSP Performance Share Plan

Regency Café Hallowed ground serving legendary full English

SEGL Salamander Energy Group Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
from 5 December 2006

SES South East Sumatra PSC

SMBC Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe Limited

Steptoe & Son Renowned City broking duo
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Our offices

Singapore

80 Raffles Place
#34 – 02UOBPlaza
Singapore 048624

Tel
+65 6309 3300

Fax
+65 6536 5390

Bangkok

#17 – 02Q.House Lumpini Building
1 South Sathorn Road
Kwaeng Tungmahamek
Khet Sathorn
Bangkok 10120
Thailand

Tel
+66 262 00 800

Fax
+66 262 00 820

Jakarta

15th Floor
Indonesia Stock Exchange Building
#15 – 02 Tower II
Jln Jenderal Dudirman Kav 52 – 53
Jakarta 12190
Indonesia

Tel
+62 21 5291 2900

Fax
+62 21 3000 4020

HoChiMinh City

#10 – 06Citi Lights Tower
45 Vo Thi Sau Street
WardDakao
District 1
HoChiMinhCity
Vietnam

Tel
+84 8 62 905 999

Fax
+84 8 62 906 111

Vientiane

14 Phayasi Road
Ban SithaneNeau
SikhottabongDistrict
Vientiane
Lao PDR

Tel
+856 21 241 121

Fax
+856 21 241 121



Salamander Energy
5th Floor
21 Palmer Street
London SW1H 0AD

Phone
+44 (0) 20 7960 1580

Fax
+44 (0) 20 7692 5524

Email
info@salamander-energy.com

Website
salamander-energy.com




